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ABBREVIATIONS

& 8

In this annual report, the following abbreviations have the
following meanings unless otherwise specified:

“Board”

“Company”

“Directors”

”GI’OUp”

“HKD"

“Hong Kong”

“Listing Rules”

“PRC"

“RMB”

“SEQ”

“Stock Exchange”

“Usp”

u%n

NEW PROVENANCE EVERLASTING HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥iEEIEIZEREREAT

the board of directors of the
Company

New Provenance Everlasting
Holdings Limited

the directors of the Company

the Company and its subsidiaries

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful
currency of Hong Kong

the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange

the People’s Republic of China,
excluding Hong Kong, the Macau
Special Administrative Region of the
PRC and Taiwan

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the
PRC

the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong)

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

United States dollars

per cent
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

g T

For the year ended 31 March
BE=B=+—HLEE

2024 2023
“TmE S
HKSs’000 HKS'000
FAET FET
Operational Results REEE
Revenue & 864,305 1,888,298
Gross profit EF] 12,033 19,108
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (B18) w7 (31,181) 1,337
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to KABVEB ANEIEER
owners of the Company (&518) /im F (30,782) 1,842
As at 31 March
W=B=+—H
2024 2023
T WE TEI=fF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FAET FAET
Financial Position B SRR
Non-current assets EREEE 64,490 45,806
Current assets MEEE 495,865 1,759,370
Current liabilities REEE (131,357) (1,315,745)
Net current assets MBEERE 364,508 443,625
Non-current liabilities JEREEE (2,618) (5,359)
Total equity T m A2 RE 426,380 484,072
Non-controlling interests R R 9,251 9,134
Total equity attributable to owners KA R AL R AEEE
of the Company 435,631 493,206
(Loss)/profit per share (HK cent) S5 (B18) #EF GBil) (0.146) 0.009
Key Ratio Analysis FELESR
Gross profit margin ERFE 1.4% 1.0%
Net (loss)/profit margin (HHE518) /AR (3.6%) 0.1%
Current ratio (Note 1) TRENLEEE (HiEET) 3.78 1.34
Note: Wit
1. Current ratio: Current assets divided by current liabilities. 1. MELEE RBEERLURBIAE
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
REEM

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Ho Yu-shun (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Sun Le

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Sun Di

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Cheung Ngai Lam

Mr. Tang Kin Nam

Mr. Kwong Wing Ho

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Cheung Ngai Lam (Chairman)
Mr. Tang Kin Nam
Mr. Kwong Wing Ho

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Cheung Ngai Lam (Chairman)
Mr. Tang Kin Nam

Mr. Ho Yu-shun

Mr. Kwong Wing Ho

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Tang Kin Nam (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Ngai Lam

Mr. Ho Yu-shun

Mr. Kwong Wing Ho

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. Tang Kin Nam (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Ngai Lam

Mr. Ho Yu-shun

Mr. Kwong Wing Ho

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVE

Mr. Ho Yu-shun
Ms. Ng Wing Suen

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ng Wing Suen
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AUDITOR

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
STOCK CODE
2326

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House 2
Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS AND
HEAD OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Unit 1102, 11/F
Shui On Centre
No. 6-8 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China Construction Bank Corporation
CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Secretaries Limited
17/F., Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

COMPANY HOMEPAGE

http://www.npegroup.com.hk
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2326

M EE

Clarendon House 2
Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

ERTEERMARENSEE

HHEEF
BB iE6-85%
ImZz A
1M181102%F

FEERIRT

PEERRITROBRAFE
Bk ERTERRE
ERIRTT (&R ARAE
BERTHERRF
FFEERITERAT

FERMGBRERE

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

BEERMNBRERZDE

BEMERBERAD
58

EBE165E
BEERESAPO7IE
N E) L

http://www.npegroup.com.hk
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFREHRSE

On behalf of the Board of the Company, | am pleased to
present the annual report of the Company together with its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024
(the “Year”).

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

During the Year, the Group has been principally engaged in
the sourcing and sale of metal minerals and related industrial
materials, and the production and sale of industrial products.

In 2023, due to the slowdown in the PRC’s economic recovery
and intensifying global inflationary pressure, the price of
manganese was also dragged down. On the supply side, South
Africa, the world’s leading manganese producer, is suffering
from logistical challenges, including reduced rail capacity
and port delays. At the beginning of 2023, the market had
strong expectations for economic recovery. The production of
steel plants once increased, and the demand for manganese
increased accordingly. However, by the end of 2023, the steel
plants lowered their production intensity, and the demand for
manganese dropped significantly. At the beginning of 2024,
supply and demand in the manganese market continued
to adjust slightly. Based on the above, the international
manganese price fluctuated greatly from 2023 to 2024, which
affected the Group'’s business of the sourcing and sale of metal
minerals and related industrial materials. As we were unable to
fully grasp profitable transactions, we chose to be conservative,
which affected the overall sales performance.

On the other hand, the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary &
EEERGRERGZAMBABRAE (iterally translated as
Ningxia Huaxia Integrated Waste Recycling Company Limited)
located in Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region, PRC, experienced
a decrease in profits this year. This was mainly attributable to
Ningxia’s comprehensive promotion of water rights reform,
whereby water rights usage fees are paid annually based on
benchmark prices which made the production costs increased.
The management of the Group will continue to review its
operating performance and efficiency from time to time
to further improve the returns it brings to the Company’s
shareholders.

RANEBLEARERDEFEMAREAREER
HNB AR (s aEl) BE"T-_MF=4
=t+t—HUFE (FEFE) Z2FkKe

EHBRR

rEE AEETIERERBRIBEEBRY R
B LERMUREERME T XREMER -

TR HRNPEGBEERBEN 2 HER
BAE > A EER TR IR - M MBS &
TREISZHETERBIFETEZYRNE S8F
ERENTEMBOER S _=FF9) ™
E'”TE?@EE?‘E%?EH%%W’ﬁﬂfié—&‘kﬁ’
HHEMFBRBEEEM B i_:fﬁfﬁﬁiﬁlﬂ
BTREENE #HHNFE XBHEEEI B 1t
E%ﬂﬁ?ﬁ%fﬁ%%ﬁuad\mmﬁﬁ ??AJ:KL’:;;
TZETETNEEREBERAKIRA B
K%%E’J%Fﬁ%%&*ﬁ%ﬁI%FHhﬁ%&fﬁﬁﬁ
BURZIATE MEZRDEZEENENRZ &
FIEERT B EERHERE-

F—HE AERURTREEENEREAEZE
ENB AR ZEEERRERGANAARAT
REENFERLD TEHREE2EHEERK
BNE RREEBDEEHMAKEERE
UHEEMAEF - FEEEEESEETKR
SMHEERBEREER UE—SHEERETRE
IR R ZRAYOIR °
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PROSPECTS

The demand and price of raw materials are leading indicators
of all business cycles and are relatively sensitive to future
markets. Global manganese ore production has not grown over
the past year, but the manganese market remains in oversupply
amid declining demand. Data shows that nearly 90% of the
world’s manganese is used for steelmaking every year, and the
situation of the steel industry in 2023 is not optimistic. The
mine owners who have long-term cooperation with the Group
are also taking the opportunity to make internal adjustments
to face this severe challenge with a better attitude.

As electronic devices and electric vehicles gain popularity,
demand for batteries is growing. Manganese is an important
component in making batteries, especially lithium-ion
batteries, which are used in everything from smartphones to
electric cars. It has a positive impact on the development of
the Group’s business of the sourcing and sale of metal minerals
and related industrial materials, and the production and sale of
industrial products.

China’s National Development and Reform Commission
announced a series of measures to stimulate consumption in
mid-2023, focusing on consumer goods such as automobiles,
real estate, and home appliances and electronic products.
All of these measures should be conducive to the recovery
of demand for manganese. Therefore, in the face of market
changes, although we are optimistic, we are more cautious. We
will continue to observe changes in real estate and manganese
ore price fluctuations, the impact of geopolitical wars on oil
prices/freight prices, the impact of high interest rates and
high inflation, and economic recession. The Group remains
optimistic, but is also more cautious, seeking a balance in
the unstable economic recovery, seizing upcoming business
opportunities, and further improving and enhancing returns to
shareholders.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERHRS

Al =
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MEREMIERHUREERFETERERN
EBURALENTE-

FEEBERERNNEZEEE T 2 =45
HmT—RIRNBCHENEK ERE[E B
EURREMETERSHER IEELIER
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERHRS
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On behalf of the Board, | hereby express my sincere gratitude ¥R 2RI RERBH T T XIF &8 AGEIE
to all of our shareholders and business partners for their REREZGHRRERTARHE ITHE2EES
continuous support, and to all directors and employees for &E THRAEEFFIEL 2B R ERE -
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Ho Yu-shun FERITHES
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer EEST )
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BUSINESS REVIEW
EZACINEE

OPERATIONS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year”), the Group was
principally engaged in the sourcing and sale of metal minerals
and related industrial materials and the production and sale of
industrial products.

Revenue and Gross Profit

The Group recorded a decrease in revenue from approximately
HK$1,888,298,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 (the
“Last Year”) to approximately HK$864,305,000 for the Year,
representing a decrease by approximately 54% as compared
to the Last Year. The Group’s gross profit decreased by
approximately 37% from approximately HK$19,108,000 for the
Last Year to approximately HK$12,033,000 for the Year.

For the sourcing and sale of metal minerals and related
industrial materials business, the Group recorded a segment
revenue of approximately HK$731,918,000 for the Year (2023:
approximately HK$1,768,648,000), representing a decrease
by approximately 59% as compared to the Last Year. The
segment profit was approximately HK$4,617,000 for the Year,
representing a decrease of approximately 46% as compared
to approximately HK$8,546,000 for the Last Year. The Group is
acting as a principal in this business because the Group bears
the inventory risk as the Group entered into distinct sale and
purchase agreements with suppliers and customers and has
discretion in establishing the price for the product sold.

For the production and sale of industrial products business
under EEEBERFRERGEFHAERAQE (literally
translated as Ningxia Huaxia Integrated Waste Recycling
Company Limited), the Group recorded a segment revenue
of approximately HK$132,387,000 for the Year (2023:
approximately HK119,650,000), representing an increase
of approximately 11% as compared to the Last Year. The
segment profit was approximately HK$6,836,000 for the Year,
representing a decrease of approximately 27% as compared to
approximately HK$9,381,000 for the Last Year.

E 5[0l B8

BE_Z_ME=R=+—BHLEE (I&F
B) SERFENERBERIHESBEY RE
BITERRNUREERMETERESR

Wz K EF

rERRERFEBEE _SE_=Z4=HA=+—
BiEEE (TEEE)) 2 491,888,298,0007 708
ERFEE 2 #9864,305,0008 70 R EEER/LL
54%° REB 2 EFIH EFEE 2 4919,108,00078 7T
B AI37%E R EE 2 £912,033,00058 7T ©

MR BREESERY R AR T EREEHEM
SOARERREAFERESDEIWRZEAI731,918,000
BT (CEBE =4 491,768,648,000 70) » &
FEERIVN59% AEENDEENB EEFEL
8,546,00078 7T iE /L 4946 % = A FE FE £94,617,00078
ToAERRILLERPREIZTEN RRARAE
EEHERAERUARMNEE RFREREM
AIEFEERE T ERBEMEERNER.

NEEEERARERGENBABERABZEER
HETxREREEMs  ~EEREAFEEER
BHEWEE#132,387,0008 T (CE_=F 4
119,650,000/ 7T) > B EFEIEMNA911% 5 58im
F B EEE£9,381,0008 TR/ AI27T%E R EE
#96,836,00078 7 ©
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BUSINESS REVIEW
FE 5[0l B8

Other Net Income

During the Year, the Group recorded the other net income
of approximately HK$3,169,000 (2023: approximately
HK$2,185,000) which mainly comprised net foreign exchange
gain or loss together with interest income and sundry
income. The net foreign exchange gain or loss was arisen
from the exposure to foreign exchange risk, which was mainly
related to RMB and USD. Over the last two years, the Group’s
management has successfully minimized the Group'’s foreign
currency exposure and therefore the net foreign exchange gain
or loss amount was maintained at the relatively low level for
both of the Year and the Last Year.

The overall variance between the other net income recorded
for the Year and for the Last Year was approximately 45%, and
there was no material fluctuation for the other net income
recorded for the Year as compared to the Last Year.

Administrative Expenses

During the Year, the Group recorded the administrative
expenses of approximately HK$13,620,000 (2023:
approximately HK$14,816,000). The overall administrative
expenses of the Group decreased by approximately 8% as
compared to the Last Year. Administrative expenses primarily
include staff costs, general administrative expenses and
depreciation.

Other Operating Income

During the Year, the Group recorded the other operating
Income of approximately HK$2,018,000 (2023: approximately
HK$486,000). Other operating Income are mainly represented
by the loss on deregistration of subsidiaries, loss allowance
recognised/reversal of loss allowance on other receivables,
reversal of impairment loss/impairment loss recognised on
deposits and prepayments, impairment loss recognised on
amount due from non-controlling interest, loss on lease
modification, and reversal of write-down on inventories/
written down of inventories.

Loss Allowance Recognised On Trade Receivables

During the Year, the Group recorded the loss allowance
recognised on trade receivables of approximately
HK$32,615,000 (2023: approximately HK$1,782,000). The
Group has provided, after making reference to the assessment
of a valuation specialist, a specific expected credit loss of
approximately HK$32,637,000 as one of the debtors of the
Group applied for voluntary debt restructuring during the Year,
resulting in a 12-year repayment plan.

Hink A 558

REE > REBERFE MU FEEEAT3,169,00078 7T
(T =4 :#92,185,00087T) » TEIEERI
mWERFEE EEAE WA R MEIBUA o ER
WEFAERFERATEEARKRETERBRDN
SNERMBFTEE RBEEMEFE AEETE
B R Thid A B AN E B PR PR E REIRE > AL A
FEKREFENERWRIEIEFEIIERNE
HEBIKAI K o

rEEHE FFEFMBSHEMIAZEREZ EE
RBERNSD4% BE EFEMRL REERRS
BYEL A BRI S B KR E

THRX

AREE > AEBEBITHRFEEZ4913,620,0008 7T
(CE =4 1 4914,816,000/870) > NEEEKEETT
BB EEER DA% - THEYXTECEES
TAlAS s —RITE R S BT E o

H S = IR A

REE  AEBMBREEMSE IR ALI2,018,00078 7T
(CE =1 : 49486,0007877) c Hf & & WA =
ZOEFHMBATEE EtEKRRIEE R
BEEE BOFEEE RERBEMRIEERD
BEEIE,/ CREBEERSE  EUEEERER R
EERARAESE HEBREIEREE MR &
[a EEHMR -

FEUE B IBE RS 1EEE

RAFEE  NEBRSREWE ZRIBHERE B3
#4932,615,0008 70 (ZE " =4 : £1,782,000%
T0) o REE—ZEBERNTHE > AEBEB
R E B EEBEREEZ32,637,00087T &
AREBNEF—LEBEARKTEENRFEER
BEBER > SR 2EANER BT -
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Finance Costs

During the Year, the Group recorded the finance costs of
approximately HK$639,000 (2023: approximately HK$631,000),
representing an increase of approximately 1% as compared
to the Last Year. The interest in finance costs was mainly
attributable to the increase in the interest on lease liabilities
during the Year as compared to the Last Year.

For both of the Year and the Last Year, the Group has reduced
the use of bills receivables discounting arrangement in its
sourcing and sale of metal minerals and related industrial
materials business. The bills discount charge recorded for both
of the Year and the Last Year were therefore at a minimum
level. The Group’s management is continuously and carefully
monitoring the Group's capital structure in order to utilize
its financial resources to meet its ongoing operational
requirements and business expansion. The Group may consider
making the discounting arrangement of bills receivables to
maintain the cash flows of the Group on a certain level when
appropriate and necessary.

Loss for the Year

During the Year, the Group recorded a decrease in profit, from
a net profit of approximately HK$1,337,000 for the Last Year
to a net loss of approximately HK$31,181,000 for the Year,
representing a decrease of approximately 2,432% as compared
to the Last Year. The decrease in the Group’s profit was mainly
attributable to the increase in loss allowance recognised on
trade receivables. The Group has been implementing austerity
measures to control the operation cost and capital expenditure
in order to reserve a sufficient level of resources and capital.

The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$30,782,000 whereas a profit
of approximately HK$1,842,000 was recorded in the Last Year.
This represented a basic loss per share of HK0.146 cent for the
Year, whereas the basic profit per share of HK0.009 cent was
recorded in the Last Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW
E 5[0l 8

=10 %S

NEE  AEBRSRE K A4639,0008 7T (ZF
T =14 1 49631,000787T) » W EFEEIBNAI1% 7
BERAFEDTEHRAFEARSAEHEHA
EEAEE B FTIE o

rEERLEFEMEEE  FAERBNRBREE
T BIEY R ARRA TR R EF RV BRI
REPNER Bt REAFER L FEFEE
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HBEREBVERFENEEREREFER A&
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ZHLMR —EKTHRERE

FAEE
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BUSINESS REVIEW
FE 5[0l B8

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

The Group financed its operations mainly by cash generated
from its business activities and credit facilities provided by
banks. As at 31 March 2024, the Group had current assets
of approximately HK$495,865,000 (2023: approximately
HK$1,759,370,000), comprising cash and bank balances
of approximately HK$6,503,000 (2023: approximately
HK$7,532,000).

The Group's current ratio, calculated based on current assets
of approximately HK$495,865,000 (2023: approximately
HK$1,759,370,000) over current liabilities of approximately
HK$131,357,000 (2023: approximately HK$1,315,745,000),
was 3.78 (2023: 1.34), which represented an increase when
compared with the current ratio as at 31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's trade payables amounted
to approximately HK$74,145,000 (2023: approximately
HK$1,280,023,000); trade receivables amounted to
approximately HK$171,998,000 (2023: approximately
HK$1,383,652,000).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s equity attributable to owners
of the Company decreased to approximately HK$435,631,000
(2023: approximately HK$493,206,000). No material change has
been recorded in equity attributable to owners of the Company
from 31 March 2023 up till 31 March 2024.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group continued to implement
a prudent financial management policy to protect the
shareholders’ interest of the Group. The management will
keep on exploring the feasibility of carrying out certain
financing activities, with the support from financial and
securities institutions and professional advisors, to meet its
ongoing operational requirements and business expansions
requirements.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals
The Group had no material acquisitions and disposals for the
year ended 31 March 2024.

BA 50l B8

MHES - MBEERRELRERE
AEBFEUERIOMEE 2RSS RIRTT
REZEEREAKLEERRHEES NI
THE=ZA=+—H AEBZRBEEALY
495,865,000 7T (Z & — =4 : #£91,759,370,00078

70)  BIRIR £ KMIR1T 45 §7496,503,0008 T (Z &
T =4 #97,532,00058 7T) ©

RIE BN E E£9495,865,00058 70 (CE =4 | 49
1,759,370,00058 7T) bR LU BN & 1649131,357,00078
TT(CEB =4 #91,315,745,00058 7T) 51 & » A" &
B2 mENtEEA3.78 (CE =4 [ 1.34) > &L=

BR_E_ZFE=-B=+—HZmn#tLxo

A ZEZMNE=ZR=+—HB KAEBZEN
BERIEAMNT4,145,0008 T (CE_=F !
#91,280,023,000/8 ) ; BIWE S ARIEBEAL
171,998,00058 7T (& — =4 : £91,383,652,00078
7o) °

N TETME=ZR=+—H ARBEEARE

B2 E B R LD £49435,631,0008 1 (ZF
T = 4F 1 #9493,206,0007T) BT _=F=H

—t+—HEZZEME=ZA=+—HL > FxRH
R ARG EDEERET-

N TECME=ZA=+—H > AEBREBERIE
BEVHEERRUARERAEERR D -1
EBREERMESFHBREXBMZZETEER

SETETEERHZIUTN UEARKEEE
R IERE K
EXBWBRHESRE

BE_Z_NF=-A=+—HLEFE xEEH
BEAWIBKRHESE.
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Foreign Currency Management

The monetary assets and liabilities as well as business
transactions of the Group are mainly carried out and
conducted in HKD, RMB and USD. The Group maintains a
strategy in its foreign currency risk management, primarily
by including the estimated exchange differences on currency
exposure in our pricing of metal minerals trade to minimize
the impact of foreign exchange risk on the Group’s profit. The
Group will enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to
hedge against the Group’s currency exposure if appropriate
and necessary. The management thus believes the current
level of bank balances, certain receivables and payables
denominated in RMB and USD expose the Group to a
manageable foreign currency risk. The management is paying
vigilant attention to the fluctuation of RMB and is constantly
and closely monitoring the foreign currency exposure. The
Group will further consider using any appropriate financial
derivatives to hedge against the Group's currency risk and
manage its exposure.

Capital Commitment

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had capital commitments
of RMB9,629,000, details of which are set out in the
announcement dated 3 February 2023 in respect of
the Investment Agreement (as defined therein) (2023:
RMB13,000,000).

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (2023: nil).

Events After The Reporting Period

Based on the information currently available, the Directors
confirm that there has been no material adverse change in the
financial or trading position of the Group since the end of the
reporting period and up to the date of this annual report.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXMEREEAGREEFTE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ho Yu-shun, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
Member of the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Risk Management Committee

Aged 46, Mr. Ho has been an employee of the Company as its
deputy chief executive officer since 1 September 2022 and has
been appointed as an executive director with effect from 19
September 2022. He is also a director of several subsidiaries
of the Company. He has also been appointed as the chairman
of the Board and authorised representative of the Company
and re-designated as chief executive officer with effect from 1
October 2022.

Mr. Ho, graduated from Tamkang University with a bachelor’s
degree in civil engineering in 2003 and further obtained
a master’s degree in business administration from the
National Cheng Kung University in 2005. He has over 10
years' experience in the corporate banking and global trading
business. Before joining the Group, from August 2011 to
January 2016, he has worked as an assistant vice president
of Bank SinoPac. He then has served as a general manager
of Hong Kong Tian Yuan Manganese International Trade Co.,
Limited from January 2016 to August 2022, and also served as
a general manager of Taipei Tianyuan Metal International Co.,
Ltd. from April 2019 to August 2022.

Ms. Sun Le

Aged 36, joined the Company as an executive director in
November 2019. Ms. Sun is also a substantial shareholder of the
Company.

Ms. Sun graduated from the Self-taught higher education
examination (BEEHAEBE2Z5) in Tourism Management
from the Northeast Normal University (SR3CEIEAZ) |
2011. Ms. Sun has served as the senior management for several
trading companies in the People’s Republic of China, and she
has accumulated solid management experience in the trading
business sector.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Sun Di

Aged 38, joined the Company as a non-executive director
in September 2019. Ms. Sun is also a director of several
subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms. Sun obtained a Bachelor’s degree in German with a minor
in international economics and trade from the Beijing Foreign
Studies University in July 2009. Ms. Sun is a non-practicing
member of The Chinese Institution of Certified Public
Accountants.

Ms. Sun has extensive experience in accounting, auditing and
risk management in the finance and investment industry. She
had worked in KPMG Huazhen, an international CPA firm, for
the period from October 2011 to January 2018.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheung Ngai Lam, Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and the Audit Committee and Member of the Risk
Management Committee and the Nomination Committee
Aged 55, joined the Company as an independent non-
executive director and has been appointed as Chairman of
the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee (re-
designated as Chairman in October 2020) and member of the
Risk Management Committee and the Nomination Committee
in February 2020.

Mr. Cheung obtained a bachelor’s degree in social science
from the University of Hong Kong in 1991, a master’s degree in
accounting from the Curtin University of Technology (currently
known as Curtin University) in 1997 and a master degree
in science from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology in 2002. Mr. Cheung is a member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and is a Certified
Practicing Accountant of CPA Australia.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEAEREEAEREFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. Cheung currently serves as an independent non-executive
director of Boyaa Interactive International Limited (stock code:
434) and China Development Bank International Investment
Limited (stock code 1062). Mr. Cheung served as an executive
director of Silk Road Logistics Holdings Limited (stock code:
988) from June 2021 to April 2024, an independent non-
executive director of Guoan International Limited (stock code:
143) from 2020 to 2021, and as the chief financial officer of
China Zenix Auto International Limited (OTC: ZXAlY) from 2014
to 2022. The companies indicated above with stock code are
listed in United States of America and Hong Kong.

Mr. Kwong Wing Ho, Member of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Risk Management Committee

Aged 51, joined the Company as an independent non-
executive director and has been appointed as member
of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committed,
the Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management
Committee in October 2022. Mr. Kwong, has more than 25
years experience in the legal field. He obtained a degree of
bachelor of laws in 1995 and subsequently a postgraduate
certificates in laws in 1997 from the City University of Hong
Kong. He further obtained a degree of master of laws from the
University of Liverpool in 1996. He qualified as a solicitor in
Hong Kong in 1999 and has been appointed as a civil celebrant
of marriages since 2007.

Mr. Kwong has been a consultant of Messrs. S. H. Chou & Co.
since 4 July 2022 and has been appointed as an assistant
manager of the Hong Kong Insurance Authority since 9 August
2022.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. Tang Kin Nam, Chairman of the Nomination Committee
and the Risk Management Committee and Member of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee

Aged 58, joined the Company as an independent non-
executive director and has been appointed as Chairman of
the Nomination Committee (re-designated as Chairman in
September 2022) and the Risk Management Committee (re-
designated as Chairman in September 2022) and member of
the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee in
October 2021.

Mr. Tang obtained a Bachelor of Arts from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1991 and a master degree in
China Economic Law from the University of Beijing in 1999. He
qualified as a chartered secretary of United Kingdom Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries in 1995.

Mr. Tang has more than 30 years’ experience in corporate
governance and executive management. Mr. Tang had
previously worked for an international Certified Public
Accountant firm where he had specialized in advising clients
on corporate and private trust structures. He then joined TMF
Group in 2000 and became the director and regional head of
international incorporations global business development,
Asia Pacific of TMF Group. Mr. Tang left TMF Group in 2017
to establish Maystar Corporate Solutions Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, to deliver
consultancy and advisory services to clients in relation to their
corporate restructuring, incorporation of overseas companies
and provision of company secretary services.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEAEREEAEREFE

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ng Wing Suen, Company Secretary and Authorised
Representative

Aged 44, joined the Group’s finance and account department
of the Group since June 2022 and has been re-designated
as Financial Controller in November 2022. Ms. Ng obtained a
degree of Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting
and a degree of Master of Corporate Governance from The
Hong Kong Metropolitan University (formerly The Open
University of Hong Kong). She is a chartered secretary, a
chartered governance professional and a fellow member
of The Chartered Governance Institute and The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute. She is also a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Ms. Ng
has more than 20 years’ experience in accounting, auditing,
treasury, financial controlling and compliance. Prior to joining
the Group, she had worked at several firms of certified public
accountants and listed companies.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFREHRT

The Directors are pleased to present the annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the sourcing and sale of
metal minerals and related industrial materials, and production
and sale of industrial products.

Further discussion and analysis of the Group’s activities as
required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, particulars of
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since
the end of the financial year and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, can be found in the
“Chairman’s Statement” section and “Business Review” section
set out on pages 6 to 8 and pages 9 to 13 of this annual report
respectively. These discussions form part of this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 58 to 59 of this annual report
respectively.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company will
be held on 28 August 2024. A notice convening the annual
general meeting will be despatched to the shareholders of the
Company in the manner required by the Listing Rules in due
course.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFERS

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to be eligible for attending and voting at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company to be held on 28 August
2024, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged for registration with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited, 17/F., Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 22
August 2024. The register of members of the Company will
be closed from 23 August 2024 to 28 August 2024, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results and the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group, is set out on page 180 of this annual report.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 24(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
of the Group during the year are set out in note 24(a) to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the Company has no distributable reserve
calculated (2023: Nil).

DONATIONS

Donations to charitable organisation by the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2024 is nil (2023: Nil).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Ho Yu-shun (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Sun Le

Non-executive Director
Ms. Sun Di

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Cheung Ngai Lam

Mr. Tang Kin Nam

Mr. Kwong Wing Ho

In accordance with bye-law no. 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws
and code provision B2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code") contained in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules,
Ms. Sun Di and Mr. Cheung Ngai Lam will retire from office by
rotation at the AGM and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENT

Details of the directors’ emolument during the year are set out
in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” in this report of the directors, no other
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company, or any entity connected with
any director of the Company, had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFERS

DIRECTORS’INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in the Listing
Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company
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Number of Number of share capital

Name of director Capacity and nature of interests shares held  share options held Total interests (Note 1)
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Ms. Sun Le Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 5,040,000,000 - 5,040,000,000 23.90%
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Notes: Wt

1. The approximate percentage of the Company’s issued share 1. EEARBBETRAZBANB DL REAR

capital was calculated on the basis of 21,084,072,140 shares of
the Company as at 31 March 2024.

2. These shares were beneficially owned by Sheen Success
Investments Limited which was wholly owned by Sun
Le. Accordingly, Sun Le is deemed to be interested in
5,040,000,000 shares under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the
directors and chief executive of the Company had registered
an interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that
was required to be recorded pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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COMPETING INTEREST OF DIRECTORS AND
THEIR RESPECTIVE CLOSE ASSOCIATES

For the year ended 31 March 2024, none of the Directors or
any of their respective close associates (as defined under the
Listing Rules) is considered to have interest in a business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of
interests, which is required to be disclosed under the Listing
Rules.

SHARE SCHEME

As at 31 March 2024, the Company has not adopted any share
schemes. Further announcement(s) will be made in respect of
any new share schemes to be adopted by the Company when
and if necessary.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the above sections headed “Directors’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures” and “Share Scheme”, at no time during the
year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisitions of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the
Directors or their spouse or minor children had any rights to
subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised
any such rights during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFERS

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE
SFO

As at 31 March 2024, the following shareholders having
interests of 5% or more of the issued share capital of the
Company were recorded in the register of interests required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

REBESFRIERMETIREZRR

Az S
WE 28 B ik

RIZZMFE=B=+—H REARTEEF
FHAG IR B SE3361KFTF B 2 M & o MATaC ik
TIRREA R NBEHTRAS NI L

Long positions in the shares of the Company RAERBRNDZEFE
Approximate
Number of percentage of
shares held the Company'’s
as at 31 March issued share capital
Name of shareholder Capacity and nature of interest 2024 (Note 3)
RIZBZMNE (GFATERTRAE
=B=+—H ZHEHERLT
RRER A8 S kiEGEMEE FrfsRRin 8B (H1zt3)
Sun Le Interest of controlled corporation 5,040,000,000 (Note 1) 23.90%
B PRl % B 2 5,040,000,000 (#z#1)
Sheen Success Investments Limited Beneficial owner 5,040,000,000 (Note 1) 23.90%
BHEBA 5,040,000,000 (/1)
Zhou Qiuhong Interest of controlled corporation 3,215,322,140 (Note 2) 15.25%
B AL PRl % B 2 3,215,322,140 (#f522)
Ying Sheng Investment Co., Ltd Beneficial owner 3,215,322,140 (Note 2) 15.25%
BHEBA 3,215,322,140 (ffz£2)
Notes: Mzt -
1. These shares were beneficially owned by Sheen Success 1 Z I 17 HiSheen Success Investments Limited &
Investments Limited which was wholly owned by Sun %A > MSheen Success Investments Limitedd
Le. Accordingly, Sun Le was deemed to be interested in HREDERAR FHIb RIBFES KIBERG 2
5,040,000,000 shares under the SFO. L4315 73 12.5,040,000,0008% & 19 R HE A A ©
2. These shares were beneficially owned by Ying Sheng 2. % ERR 1D BYing Sheng Investment Co., Ltd S 7
Investment Co., Ltd which was wholly owned by Zhou & > fYing Sheng Investment Co., LtdfH /& KA 2
Qiuhong. Accordingly, Zhou Qiuhong was deemed to be BEER -RIL BIBEELERPEEA > FINAR
interested in 3,215,322,140 shares under the SFO. 184 1513,215,322, 1400 B& 1D P iER o
3. The approximate percentage of the Company’s issued share 3. EEARBBETRAZBANB DL REBEAR

capital was calculated on the basis of 21,084,072,140 shares of
the Company as at 31 March 2024.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company as at 31 March 2024
as required pursuant to section 324 of the SFO. Such other
relevant interest or short positions, if notified to the Company,
would have to be recorded in the said register of interests
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of
the SFO.

BN ZEME=H=+—H221,084,072,140
BERRAR T & -

BREXFIREESN R_E_MNF=ZRB=+—
B> ARAB N EENERIEEFKAERDIE324
BATREZRRBE RN RARRKRN ZEREM
AR R A 2 B0 3 A o {1 2 A ) R 2 EL At A4 R 4 v B
A MARARARDREBEZESFRPEKRHNE
3BRETFHFEZR D ELMA AR R

N
KB o
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The material related party transactions as disclosed in note 27
to the consolidated financial statements did not fall under the
scope of “Connected Transactions” or “Continuing Connected
Transactions” under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which are
required to comply with any of the reporting, announcement
or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the applicable laws of Bermuda which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company’s Bye-laws provided that the Directors for the
time being of the Company shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed
duty, in their respective offices or trusts or otherwise in relation
thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the directors and other officers
of the Company during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share scheme of the Company as disclosed in the
section headed “Share Scheme” in this report of directors and
in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Group or existed
during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFERS

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of any business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the year ended 31
March 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers accounted for
approximately 84.7% and 100% respectively of the Group’s
total revenue for the year.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's largest
supplier and five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
85.3% and approximately 92.9% respectively of the Group's
total purchases for the year.

None of the Directors, or any of their close associates or any
shareholders which to the best knowledge of the Directors who
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had
any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers during the year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The planet Earth and its various resources maintain the life of
all creatures and humans. In the face of dwindling resources,
the Group strongly believes that sustainable development is
the only way out. Therefore, we shoulder the responsibility
of environmental protection through strict compliance with
laws and regulations related to emission. Our uncompromising
commitment to integrate the concept of environmental
protection into the production system is also reflected by the
operation mode of the Waste Recycling Company and a system
for the management of environment, air emission, water
resources, soil, waste and energy.

EEEHN
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Directors recognize that employees, customers and
business partners are the keys to the sustainable development
of the Group. The Group is committed to building a close and
caring relationship with its employees and business partners
and improving the quality of services to the customers.

With employees being its cornerstone for success and key
to the development of core competency, the Group makes
every effort to ensure its operation is compliant with laws
and regulations related to employee benefits. We also
protect employees’ rights and benefits and provide them
with comprehensive welfare, training and development
opportunities for talent retention. The Group also stays
connected with its customers and suppliers and has ongoing
communication with the customers and suppliers through
various channels such as telephone, electronic mails and
physical meetings to obtain their feedback and suggestions.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong and the PRC while the
ordinary shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. The Group’s establishment and operations
shall accordingly comply with relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31 March 2024
and up to the date of this annual report, the Group'’s operation
has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC and Hong Kong in all material respects.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFERS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total of about 132
employees and directors (2023: 122). The Group’s staff costs,
including directors’ remuneration, amounted to approximately
HK$20,962,000 (2023: approximately HK$22,646,000).

The Group remunerates its employees based on their
competence, performance, experience and prevailing market
rate. Other employee benefits included provident fund scheme,
medical insurance, subsidised training programme, share
scheme as well as discretionary bonus.

The determination of emoluments of the Directors had
taken into consideration of their respective responsibilities
and contribution to the Company with reference to market
conditions.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has specific written terms of reference
that is in compliance with the CG Code. As at 31 March 2024,
the Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Ngai Lam (Chairman),
Mr. Tang Kin Nam and Mr. Kwong Wing Ho.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Except for code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, which will be
discussed in section headed “Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer” in the Corporate Governance Report, the Company
has complied with all the applicable code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 of the
Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March 2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least
25% of the Company'’s total issued shares is held by the public
as at the date of this report.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Based on the information currently available, the Directors
confirm that there has been no material adverse change in the
financial or trading position of the Group since the end of the
reporting period and up to the date of this annual report.

AUDITOR

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited acted as auditor of the Company and
audited the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
financial year ended 31 March 2024.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Crowe (HK) CPA Limited as auditor of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Ho Yu-shun
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXERBRS

The Board is committed to uphold a high standard in
corporate governance. The Board considers effective corporate
governance is essential to protect shareholders’ interests and
enhance stakeholders’ value. Moreover, the Board is of the
view that good corporate governance will further enhance the
value and culture of the Group, which is to carry out business
activities while minimizing the impact on the environment and
to develop and implement green technology more effectively
and comprehensively.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code and Corporate Governance Report (“CG Code”) contained
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separated and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Ho Yu-shun, an
executive director of the Company, has been appointed as
chairman of the Board and has been re-designated as chief
executive officer of the Company with effect from 1 October
2022. Since then, Mr. Ho Yu-shun has been serving as both
the chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the
Company.

Although for the year ended 31 March 2024, the positions
of chairman and chief executive officer were not separated,
the responsibilities between the two positions were clearly
separated. The Board believes that such structure helps to
provide consistent leadership, facilitates effective business
planning and implementation of long-term business strategies.

In addition, all major decisions of the Company are made
only after discussion among Board members and appropriate
members of the Board committees and the heads of
departments. The power and authority are not concentrated
in one individual. Moreover, the Board is composed of
experienced members who are not involved in the day to day
management of the Company. They are in a position to and do
provide independent opinions effectively. The Board considers
that in the circumstances having the roles of the chairman and
chief executive officer played by the same individual would not
impair the balance of power and authority between the Board
and the management of the Company.

The Directors will review the Company’s corporate governance
policies and compliance with the CG Code from time to time.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)

The Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) report for
the year ended 31 March 2024, which contains the Company'’s
ESG information in compliance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide of the Listing Rules, will be
published in the Company’s and Stock Exchange’s websites at
the same time as the publication of this report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED
ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.
Having made specific enquiries with all the Directors, all of
them confirmed that they have complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31
March 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall management,
leadership and control of the Group. The Board's primary
responsibilities are to formulate long-term corporate strategies,
to establish policies and plans, to oversee management of the
Group, to evaluate the performance of the Group, to assess
the achievement of targets set by the Board periodically
and to review and approve annual and interim results and
other significant financial and operational matters under
the leadership of the chairman of the Group. The Board is
directly accountable to the shareholders of the Company. The
responsibility of day-to-day management and operations of
the Group are delegated to the senior management of the
Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises six
Directors including two executive directors, namely Mr. Ho
Yu-shun (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) and Ms. Sun
Le, one non-executive director, namely Ms. Sun Di, and three
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Cheung Ngai
Lam, Mr. Kwong Wing Ho and Mr. Tang Kin Nam.

The Directors are considered to have a balance of skill and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of
the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEEERHRS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Changes in the composition of the Board, audit committee
(“Audit Committee”), remuneration committee
(“Remuneration Committee”), nomination committee
(“Nomination Committee”) and risk management committee
(“Risk Management Committee”) of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this annual report
are detailed on pages 35 to 42 of this annual report.

The section “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” sets out the biographical details of the current
Directors and senior management from pages 14 to 18 of this
annual report. Save as disclosed in the aforesaid, none of the
Directors has any financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship between any members of the Board.

The Company has received the annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
directors of the Company (“Independent Non-executive
Directors”) as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent under the independence guidelines
set out in the Listing Rules.

The Company will provide a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction to each newly appointed director on his/
her first appointment in order to enable him/her to have
appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and that he/she is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Directors are continually updated on
developments in the statutory and regulatory regime and
the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. The Company has provided timely technical
updates and arranged training sessions (whether internally
or externally), including the briefing on the amendments
on the Listing Rules and the news release published by the
Stock Exchange to the Directors. Continuing briefing and
professional development and training for Directors are
arranged where necessary.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information, including monthly Board updates from the
management, regular reports from the Board committees and
briefings on significant legal, regulatory or accounting matters
affecting the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXER/W®SE

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS EZEe €3 RBEAE

During the year ended 31 March 2024, four reqular Board HE_Z _NME=ZB=+—HIEE - EEg
meetings and the 2023 annual general meeting (“2023 AGM") BT TR ECHEEAR _ S _—FRFBEFAZ
were held. The attendance records of each director is set out as (ZEZ=FRRBEKRE) FES2HFEE

follows: HEHWMT
Number of attendance
HERE
2023
Annual General
Board meetings Meetmg
Name of Director P EXEEEE RERBEBERE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Ho Yu-shun REHLE 4/4 11
Ms. Sun Le Y Sogn 4/4 171
Non-executive Director FEHTES
Ms. Sun Di HEzt 4/4 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BiIERITES
Mr. Cheung Ngai Lam REM AL 4/4 171
Mr. Tang Kin Nam WEmELE 4/4 1
Mr. Kwong Wing Ho B KERE 4/4 11

The 2023 AGM of the Company for the year ended 31 March K@jéﬁzfz T _—F=RA=+—HLEFENZ
2023 was held on 17 August 2023. The forthcoming annual —EFERRBFAEENRZZEI=ZFENE+t
general meeting (“AGM") of the Company will be held on 28 E| BT -ARARERRBFAE (RREEKX
August 2024 (meeting agenda will be provided in the Notice &) RPN _ZE_MWFENBZ+N\HRIT (FEHEZE
of AGM to be issued afterwards). Our Directors, company REFNREBEHZKREBEEAZES) - AQF
secretary and other senior executives of the Company will ZBEF -ATMEUREMSHRITHRABER LA
attend the AGM together with our external auditors to answer BIMNEZEEMBFHERETBFEFAET  wEERE
any questions from the shareholders. All Directors treasure the E'J ARRE 2RESHERNEFRTHIRSE
opportunity to canvass the views of the shareholders of the BEAE FHAEAABDREERENHE

Company at the AGM held annually.
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TEEERHRS

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company has
complied with the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) of
the CG Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules,
except for the deviation from Code Provision C.2.1 for the year
described below.

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Ho
Yu-shun has been serving as both of the chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

Although for the year ended 31 March 2024, the positions
of chairman and chief executive officer were not separated,
the responsibilities between the two positions were clearly
separated. The Board believes that such structure helps to
provide consistent leadership, facilitates effective business
planning and implementation of long-term business strategies.

In addition, all major decisions of the Company are made
only after discussion among Board members and appropriate
members of the Board committees and the heads of
departments. The power and authority are not concentrated
in one individual. Moreover, the Board is composed of
experienced members who are not involved in the day to day
management of the Company. They are in a position to and do
provide independent opinions effectively. The Board considers
that in the circumstances having the roles of the chairman and
chief executive officer played by the same individual would not
impair the balance of power and authority between the Board
and the management of the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the non-executive director and independent non-
executive directors is appointed for a term of twelve-month
period which automatically renews for successive twelve-
month periods unless terminated by either party by six
months’ notice in writing. All of the non-executive Director
and independent Non-executive Directors are also subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at least once every three
years at the AGMs of the Company in accordance with the
Company's Bye-laws.
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Newly appointed Directors will receive guidelines and
reference materials to enable them to familiarise with the
Group's business operations and Board'’s policies. Additional
training will be provided to those newly appointed Directors
within 18 months of their appointment. The Company is
committed to arranging and funding suitable training to all
Directors for their continuous professional development. Each
Director is briefed and updated from time to time to ensure
that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities under the
Listing Rules and applicable legal and regulatory requirements
and the governance policies of the Group. All the Directors
also understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participating in any
suitable training to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee has specific written terms
of reference that is in compliance with the CG Code. As at
31 March 2024, the Remuneration Committee comprises
four members, including three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Ngai Lam (Chairman), Mr. Tang
Kin Nam, Mr. Kwong Wing Ho and one Executive Director,
namely Mr. Ho Yu-shun.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for all the directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration; determining the remuneration packages of
individual executive directors and senior management and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive directors. The Remuneration Committee is also
responsible for establishing a set of formal and transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and
structure to ensure that no director or any of his/her associates
will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration,
which remuneration will be determined by reference to the
performance of the individual and the Company as well as
market practice and conditions. The full terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee are available on the Company’s
and the Stock Exchange’s websites.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year

FNEET (48)

BE_Z_NF=-A=+—HLEFE HNEE

ended 31 March 2024 to review the remuneration packages for BT —NZHEUBEREE2HMEE S/
Directors. The attendance records of each member is set outas 2 Z HEEREHIIT :
follows:
Number of
attendance
Name of member REtE HERH
Mr. Cheung Ngai Lam (Chairman) REMEE (F/E) 1/1
Mr. Tang Kin Nam e m At 11
Mr. Ho Yu-shun MEE it 11
Mr. Kwong Wing Ho BB &R E 11

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee has specific written terms of
reference that is in compliance with the CG Code. As at 31
March 2024, the Nomination Committee comprises four
members, including three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Tang Kin Nam (Chairman), Mr. Cheung
Ngai Lam and Mr. Kwong Wing Ho and one Executive Director,
namely Mr. Ho Yu-shun.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of directors, evaluation of board composition,
assessment of the independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors and management of the Board succession.
The full terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s websites.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) in June 2023 which set out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board. All Board appointments shall be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
selection criteria, having regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board. Selection of candidates will be based on range
of diversity perspectives, which would include but not limited
to, gender, age, cultural, educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The Board has also adopted a nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) in January 2019 to fulfill the duties and
responsibilities of the Nomination Committee as provided in its
terms of reference.

(a)

(b)

Recommended candidates

The Nomination Committee shall consider any and all
candidates recommended as nominees for directors
to it by any directors or shareholders; provided that
in the case of shareholder recommendations, such
recommendations comply with all applicable notice
requirements set forth in the Company’s Bye-laws,
the procedures for a shareholder’s nomination to be
properly brought before a general meeting and the
Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee may also
consider, in its sole discretion, any and all candidates
recommended as nominees for directors to it by any
source.

Desired qualifications, qualities and skills

The Nomination Committee shall endeavour to find
individuals of high integrity who have a solid record of
accomplishment in their chosen fields and who possess
the qualifications, qualities and skills to effectively
represent the best interests of all shareholders.
Candidates will be selected for their ability to exercise
good judgment, to provide the commitment to
enhancing shareholder value, practical insights and
diverse perspectives. Candidates will also be assessed
in the context of the then-current composition of the
board, the operating requirements of the Company
and the long-term interests of all shareholders.
In conducting this assessment, the Nomination
Committee will, in connection with its assessment
and recommendation of director candidates, consider
diversity and such other factors as it deems appropriate
given the then-current and anticipated future needs of
the board and the Company, and to maintain a balance
of perspectives, qualifications, qualities and skills
on the board. The Nomination Committee may also
consider such other factors as it may deem are in the
best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The
above diversity perspectives, taking into account the
Company’s business model and needs, are set out in a
Diversity Policy.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

(c)

(d)

Independence

The Nomination Committee shall ensure that at least
one-third of the board members (or such other number
of the members of the board as prescribed by the
Listing Rules from time to time) meet the definition of
independent non-executive director. The Nomination
Committee shall annually assess each nominee for
independent non-executive director by reviewing
any potential conflicts of interest that he or she and
their immediate family members (as defined in the
Listing Rules) may have, based on the criteria for
independence set forth in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
A retiring independent non-executive director who has
served the board for a period of nine consecutive years
or more is eligible for nomination by the board to stand
for re-election at a general meeting provided that he or
she is still considered independent by the board.

Nominee evaluation process

The Nomination Committee will consider as a
candidate any director who has indicated his or her
willingness to stand for re-election and any other
person who is recommended by any shareholders.
The Nomination Committee may also undertake its
own search process for candidates and may retain the
services of professional firms or other third parties
to assist in identifying and evaluating potential
nominees. The Nomination Committee may use any
process it deems appropriate for the purpose of
evaluating candidates which is consistent with those
set forth in its terms of reference, the Company’s Bye-
laws, the corporate governance policy and the policy
described herein; provided that the process used for
evaluating a nominee for each election or appointment
of directors shall be substantially similar and under
no circumstances shall the Nomination Committee
evaluate nominees recommended by a shareholder
pursuant to a process that is substantially different than
that used for other nominees for the same election or
appointment of directors.

HFMEEE (@)

(c)

(d)

b pvA i

RUSZEEREREFEMNER L =02
— (R LHRBTRTANHEMEETE M
EAR NEBUFATESNEZR &Y
ZEERRE EHRAEMRFAEIBIL
MEE BEEFEEBUBIUIFNTE
ERLANEHERNE (EER LHHRA)
NEMBEEMZERETHE-ERNES
SEBBEEBNFHIULNRMEBIIIFNT
EF NOERESFIRANKRERS
BEEL EENARESTGRABIL-

RBAFERER
RLZEERERERNRTEEBEEE
NESUREMRRERNEAEMAL
RIFEANRLEZEEETIBETYEREE
A WEEFE R ERBNEHME =5 RIRS
Ui ekTEEENRSA RRE
EgURBAEMERASGEZEFTERE
EAHREFANTAHBRER AR
Bl 2 ABHMRA S R EEBBER UK AR
MER - BT EEEN EMEE
BYRLEEFTEELANEBFLERK
HE BREABRT RREE a1
HRFRERBNRER ARMRRENREZER 5
FEEFEEA-—ESERHEZENHMIE
LANREFEEARER-

NEW PROVENANCE EVERLASTING HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥iEEIEIZEREREAT



REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

(e)

Nomination procedures

The company secretary shall call a meeting of the
Nomination Committee, and invite nominations
of candidates from board members, if any, for
consideration prior to its meeting. The Nomination
Committee may also put forward candidates who
are not nominated by board members. For filling
a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall
make recommendations for the board’s consideration
and approval. For proposing candidates to stand
for election at a general meeting, the Nomination
Committee shall make nominations to the board for its
consideration and recommendation. Until the issue of
the shareholder circular, the nominated persons shall
not assume that they have been proposed by the board
to stand for election at the general meeting.

In order to provide information of the candidates
nominated by the board to stand for election at a
general meeting, a circular will be sent to shareholders.
The circular will set out the names, brief biographies
(including qualifications and relevant experience),
and any other information, as required pursuant to
applicable laws, rules and regulations, of the proposed
candidates. A shareholder can serve a notice to the
board of directors or the company secretary within
the lodgement period of its intention to propose a
resolution to elect a certain person as a director in
accordance with the relevant procedures posted on the
Company’s website. The particulars of the candidates
so proposed will be provided to all shareholders
for information by way of announcement and/or
supplementary circular. A candidate is allowed to
withdraw his or her candidature at any time before the
general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
board of directors or the company secretary. The board
shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for election at
any general meeting. Shareholder proposed resolutions
shall take the same form as the resolutions proposed
for the candidates recommended by the board.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Nomination
Committee reviewed the board composition and
independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors,
and considered the suitability of those retiring Directors
standing for re-election at the next annual general meeting
as well as the need for a director succession plan. The
Nomination Committee also reviewed the Nomination Policy
and the Diversity Policy and discussed the objectives set for
implementing the latter, and noted that those objectives had
been achieved. The Nomination Committee concluded that the
board composition should continue unchanged.

The Nomination Committee met once during the year ended
31 March 2024 to review the structure, size and composition
of the Board; assess the independence of the Independent
Non-executive Directors of the Company; review and make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and re-
election of Directors. The attendance records of each member
is set out as follows:

FNEET (48)
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Number of

attendance
Name of member MEHEH HE R
Mr. Tang Kin Nam (Chairman) WEmLE (F/EF) 171
Mr. Cheung Ngai Lam SRE M A 1/1
Mr. Ho Yu-shun HELE 11
Mr. Kwong Wing Ho BB & A 1/1
AUDIT COMMITTEE BIZZEg

The Audit Committee has specific written terms of reference
that is in compliance with the CG Code. As at 31 March 2024,
the Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Ngai Lam (Chairman),
Mr. Tang Kin Nam and Mr. Kwong Wing Ho.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for assisting the
Board in applying financial reporting and internal control
principles and in maintaining an appropriate relationship
with the Company’s auditor. The Audit Committee is also
delegated with the corporate governance function of the
Board to monitor, procure and manage corporate governance
compliance within the Group. The full terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are available on the Company’s and the Stock
Exchange’s websites.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)
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EXER/W®SE

The Audit Committee met three times during the year ended #HE_ZEL_MNE=FB=+—HILLEE BERZZEE
31 March 2024 and the attendance records of each memberis ERITT=ZRNEH ISHEZHEBREHIAOT :
set out as follows:

Number of

attendance
Name of member MEHHA R
Mr. Cheung Ngai Lam (Chairman) RRMIAE (F/E) 3/3
Mr. Tang Kin Nam BREm A 3/3
Mr. Kwong Wing Ho BB K &S 3/3

The summary of work performed by the Audit Committee
during the year:

. reviewed and discussed the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2023 and recommended to the Board for approval;

. reviewed the corporate governance compliance with
the CG Code and the disclosure requirements for the
corporate governance report;

. reviewed and discussed the unaudited financial
statements of the Group for the six months ended 30
September 2023 and recommended to the Board for
approval;

. reviewed and discussed with management and auditor
of the Company the accounting policies and practices
which may affect the Group and the scope of the audit;

. reviewed the effectiveness and sufficiency of
the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control system of the Group;

. reviewed and approved the remuneration and the
terms of engagement of the Company’s auditor; and
reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on
the re-appointment of the Company’s auditor; and

. engaged a professional consultant to conduct an
internal audit review and risk assessment of the Group.

Subsequent to the year end, the Audit Committee reviewed
the annual report and the annual results announcement for
the year ended 31 March 2024, with a recommendation to the
Board for approval.
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Risk Management Committee with specific written terms
of reference was established by the Company on 23 November
2015. As at 31 March 2024, the Risk Management Committee
comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Tang Kin Nam (Chairman), Mr. Cheung Ngai Lam and Mr.
Kwong Wing Ho and one Executive Director, namely Mr. Ho Yu-
shun.

The Risk Management Committee is mainly responsible for
reviewing the general goals and fundamental policies of the
risk and compliance management, internal control and risk
management and internal audit functions of the Group and
made recommendations to the Board on the same. The full
terms of reference of the Risk Management Committee are
available on the Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s websites.

The Risk Management Committee met twice during the
year ended 31 March 2024 to identify risk on the Group's
operation; to review and recommend to the Board the interim
review reports on risk management and internal control. The
attendance of each member is set out as follows:
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Number of

attendance
Name of member REHH HERE
Mr. Tang Kin Nam (Chairman) WERELE (FE) 2/2
Mr. Cheung Ngai Lam REE ML 2/2
Mr. Ho Yu-shun (EESEPes 2/2
Mr. Kwong Wing Ho BB &R 2/2

AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about
their responsibilities on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 51 to
57 of this annual report.
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AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
(continued)

During the year, the following fees were paid or payable to
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe”), the auditor of the Company:
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RAREER BENRENARBZEENEE S
(BB St EXAERAR (BEEE) 2&
BUT:

HK$'000
FET

Fees for audit services (Note a) ZERE 2 ER (Wita) 730
Fees for non-audit services (Note b) IEZERFE ZER (Batb) 190
Total “ast 920
Notes: Mzt -
(a) The audit services provided by Crowe. (a) ZEREHEE EERRM -
(b) The non-audit services provided by Crowe. (b) JEZBRF R E EZERT IR M o

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports,
price-sensitive announcements and other financial disclosures
required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements.

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

In order to establish the duties and responsibilities of the Board
in performing its corporate governance functions, the Board
has delegated certain corporate governance functions to the
Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee which
include the following:

(a) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board;

(b) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and

practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code
of conduct and compliance manual applicable to
employees and directors; and

(e) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board recognises its responsibilities for maintaining
adequate systems of risk management and internal control to
safeguard the Group's assets and shareholders’ interests. The
systems, including a defined management structure with limits
of authority, is designed to help achieve business objectives,
safeguard assets against unauthorised use, and maintain
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use and for publication. The systems
are set up to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement of financial statements or
lost of assets and to manage rather than eliminate risks of
failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s
objectives.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Effective risk management is essential in the long-term
growth and sustainability of the Group’s businesses. The Board
monitors the risk management and internal control systems
on an ongoing basis. It evaluates and determines the nature
and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
strategic objectives. An annual review of effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems has
been conducted. The annual review ensured the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions.

The process used to identify, evaluate and manage the
significant risks of the Group is embedded in the Group’s
normal business operations. Organisational structure
is well established with clearly defined authorities and
responsibilities, and the Group has developed various risk
management and internal control policies and procedures for
each business unit to follow. Business units are responsible
for identifying, assessing and monitoring risks associated
with their respective units regularly. The results of assessment
are reported to management which subsequently assesses
the likelihood of risk occurrence, provides remedial plan and
monitors the progress of rectification with the assistance of
the head of the business units. The results and effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal controls have been
reported to the Audit Committee.

Guidelines have been provided to the directors, officers,
management and relevant staff in handling and disseminating
sensitive and confidential inside information with due care.
Only personnel at appropriate level can have access to
sensitive and confidential inside information.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

In view of the Company’s businesses and scale of operations,
and in order to adopt the most cost-effective method of
conducting periodic reviews of the Company’s internal
controls, the Company has engaged an external consultant to
conduct review on the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems to identify and evaluate significant risks of the
business operations. The Board believes that the involvement
of the external consultant could enhance the objectivity and
transparency of evaluation process. The external consultant
has conducted an annual review to assess the adequacy and
effectiveness of the systems for the year ended 31 March 2024
in accordance with the requirements under code provision
D.2 of the CG Code, and according to the scope of review
agreed and approved by the Audit Committee. The review
covered all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls and also material risks relating to ESG
matters.

After the review, a report of findings and recommendations
for improvement in relation to the systems has been provided
to the Audit Committee and management. The internal audit
report has been approved by the Audit Committee and
management is required to establish remedial plans and take
required actions to rectify those internal control deficiencies
identified according to the respective risk level and priorities.
Subsequent review will be performed by the external
consultant to monitor the implementation of those agreed
recommendations and to report the results of the follow up
review to the Audit Committee.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ng Wing Suen (“Ms. Ng") was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company on 1 August 2022. The biographical
details of Ms. Ng are set out under the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on
page 18 of this annual report. Ms. Ng has duly complied with
the relevant professional training requirements under Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

According to bye-law no. 58 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company, to
require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting
the requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance with
the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (the “Companies Act”).

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
general meetings

Pursuant to the Companies Act, any number of shareholders
representing not less than one-twentieth of the total
voting rights of all the shareholders having at the date of
the requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which the
requisition relates; or not less than one hundred shareholders,
can request the Company in writing to:

(a) give to shareholders of the Company entitled to receive
notice of the next annual general meeting notice of
any resolution which may properly be moved and is
intended to be moved at that meeting;

(b) circulate to shareholders of the Company entitled
to have notice of any general meeting send to them
any statement of not more than one thousand words
with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting.

The requisition must be deposited to the Company not less
than six weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week
before the meeting in case of any other requisition.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a director of the Company

According to bye-law no. 88 of the Company’s Bye-laws, no
person other than a Director retiring at the general meeting
of the Company shall, unless recommended by the Directors
for election, be eligible for election as a Director at any
general meeting of the Company unless a notice signed by
a shareholder of the Company (other than the person to be
proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the general
meeting of the Company for which such notice is given of
his/her intention to propose such person for election and
also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of his/
her willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the
Company’s head office in Hong Kong or at the Company'’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Secretaries Limited provided that the minimum length of the
period, during which such notice(s) are given, shall be at least
seven days and that the period for lodgement of such notice(s)
shall commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of
the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election
and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns in writing to the Company Secretary of the Company
at the Company’s head office in Hong Kong at Unit 1102, 11th
Floor, Shui On Centre, No. 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted its dividend policy, which allows
the shareholders of the Company to share the profits of the
Company whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group's
future growth. According to the Company’s dividend policy,
in addition to the final dividends, the Company may declare
interim dividends or special dividends from time to time.

According to the Company’s dividend policy, the Board shall
consider the following factors before proposing and declaring
dividends:

the Group’s general financial condition;
the Group’s working capital and debt level;
the Group’s liquidity position;

retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of the Group;

future cash requirements and availability for business
operations, business strategies and future development
needs;

any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group’s lenders;

the general market conditions;

the general economic conditions and other internal
or external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the
Group; and

any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is
also subject to any restrictions under the Laws of the Bermuda,
the Bye-laws of the Company and any applicable laws, rules
and regulations.

The Company’s dividend policy will be reviewed from time
to time by the Board and there can be no assurance that
dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any given
period.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a range of communication
channels between itself and its shareholders, investors and
other stakeholders. These include the annual general meeting,
the annual and interim reports, notices, announcements and
circulars and the Company’s website at www.npegroup.com.hk.
Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an informative and
timely manner. Investors may write directly to the Company
at the Company’s head office in Hong Kong at Unit 1102, 11th
Floor, Shui On Centre, No. 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

i RYR Y S GRS

A\ Crowe

BEEEE () StMEHERAT
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited

& REE TSIRET 7R IBIEF09E
9/F Leighton Centre,

77 Leighton Road,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF NEW PROVENANCE EVERLASTING HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of New
Provenance Everlasting Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 58 to
179, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Valuation of trade receivables

Refer to notes 2(h)(i), 2(j) and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements and the accounting policies

The Key Audit Matter
R E ST EIE

Trade receivables amounted to approximately HK$171,998,000
as at 31 March 2024.

RIZTWMF=A=+—H B E ZHIE443171,998,000
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Management make estimates when assessing impairment
provision of trade receivables. The estimates were made based
on the ageing of the receivable balances, debtors’ credit
quality, likelihood of collection, historical write-off experience
and current market conditions.
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During the year, certain debtors of the Group applied for
voluntary debt restructuring. One of the debtors will follow a
12 years repayment plan to settle the outstanding balance.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEtPREAMERNTGE

- we obtained direct confirmations from a
selected sample of debtors for the trade
receivables
BAEHENEEASRIKRE S HIBEE
BT

- we inspected, on a sampling basis, external
documents and evidences to support
the validity and completeness of sales to
gain assurance for the outstanding trade
receivables
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- we assessed the management’s basis and
assumptions employed in making estimates
on the impairment provision of the
receivable balances and the extent of loss
allowance required
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- we evaluated the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of management’s specialist;
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The Key Audit Matter
FRESNER

The management engaged a valuation specialist to evaluate
the risk and discounting factors arising from the repayment
plan. Based on the assessment, the management provided
a specific expected credit loss (“ECL") approximately
HK$32,637,000 on trade receivables of one debtor in order
to reflect the uncertainty and variance between the carrying
amount and the present value of the trade receivables.
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We identified this as a key audit matter because of its
significance to the consolidated financial statements and
because assessing recoverability of debts involves a significant
degree of judgement and estimation by management.
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Valuation of prepayments and deposits

Refer to note 2(h)(ii) and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies

The Key Audit Matter
MRESNER

Prepayments and deposits amounted to approximately
HK$314,937,000 as at 31 March 2024.
RZE_HWNHEF=A=+—HB BENREEREREHNS
314,937,000 7T ©

Management performed assessment as at end of each reporting
period to consider whether there is any indication that these
prepayments and deposits may be impaired. The recoverable
amounts of these prepayments and deposits are assessed by the
estimate of net cash flows to be received for the utilisation of
the prepayments and deposits taking into account the events
that have occurred and circumstances that have changed,
historical experience and current market condition.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

Bt PEEAMEENSZE

we engaged our valuation specialist to
review and challenge the appropriateness
of the ECL model, key assumptions, and key
inputs adopted by the Group; and
RMEZRGEERYE SEEKAMNTER
EEBEEL  FARERLERBRAEN
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we tested the accuracy and completeness
of key data sources applied in the ECL
computation by checking to the Group's
supporting information, the relevant internal
information and external data source, as
applicable.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

Bt HREAMEENS A

we obtained direct confirmations from a
selected sample of counterparties for the
prepayments and deposits
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Based on the results of management’s impairment assessment,
reversal of impairment loss of approximately HK$752,000 have
been made by management on prepayments and deposits for
the year ended 31 March 2024.
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We identified this as a key audit matter because of its
significance to the consolidated financial statements and
because assessing the recoverable amounts of prepayments
and deposits involve significant degree of judgement and
estimation by management.
B EARREASE WHARERGRSMB®REN
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Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and auditor’s report thereon

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors and those charged with
governance for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

- we inspected, on a sampling basis, external
documents and evidences to support the
validity and completeness of prepayments
and deposits
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- we assessed the management’s basis
and assumptions employed in making
estimates in the impairment provision of the
prepayments and deposits balances and the
extent of impairment loss required
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIZEMERS

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.
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We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 June 2024

Alvin Yeung Sik Hung
Practising Certificate Number P05206

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

.%m ﬁ

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

2024 2023
bl 111 = —E==
Notes HKS$’000 HKS000
ik FET FAET
Revenue U & 4(a) 864,305 1,888,298
Cost of sales 5 E R AR (852,272) (1,869,190)
Gross profit EF 12,033 19,108
Other net income Hg A 258 5 3,169 2,185
Selling and distribution costs & Ko 70 85 Al A (580) (1,181)
Administrative expenses THHEX (13,620) (14,816)
Other operating income H & E WA 2,018 486
Loss allowance recognised on FEWE SR IBE MR EE
trade receivables B 6(c) (32,615) (1,782)
(Loss)/profit from operations & (B518) A (29,595) 4,000
Finance costs BB B A 6(a) (639) (631)
(Loss)/profit before taxation ¥R AT (B548) &) 6 (30,234) 3,369
Income tax FriSiR 7(a) (947) (2,032)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (F518) &R (31,181) 1,337
Attributable to: TH AL :
Owners of the Company KABHEE A (30,782) 1,842
Non-controlling interests FEER R (399) (505)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (B18) &R (31,181) 1,337
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable AT EE ABEEA
to owners of the Company (&548) & # (30,782) 1,842
HK Cent HK Cent
AL =]
(Loss)/profit per share i (F518) &aF 11
Basic and diluted EAR K8 (0.146) 0.009
The notes on pages 65 to 179 form part of these consolidated $65F179B Z it AZ S M BEREx 2 —

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
e EmREMEERER

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #HE_Z_NE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

2024 2023
—EmF S
HKS$’000 HKS'000
FAET FET
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (EB8) Ef (31,181) 1,337
Other comprehensive expenses FRAZHMEZAEM®
for the year
Items that may be reclassified REBAEENHBEEERmZIER
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on HENBARMBERERELEZ
translation of financial statements ERESR
of subsidiaries (26,511) (39,315)
Reclassification adjustments for HIEME AR Z B D EAE
the deregistration of a subsidiary - 26
Other comprehensive expenses for FRAZEMEERS (ORERE
the year (net of nil tax (2023: nil)) TET=F1F)) (26,511) (39,289)
Total comprehensive expenses FAZEAZAALE
for the year (57,692) (37,952)
Attributable to: T AL :
Owners of the Company KABHEB A (57,575) (37,871)
Non-controlling interests RS (117) (81)
(57,692) (37,952)

The notes on pages 65 to 179 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MBIKRAR

AT 31 MARCH 2024 R-_ZE_ME=H=+—H
2024 2023
—EmE ==
Notes HKS$’000 HKS000
Kz FAET FET
Non-current assets ERENE E
Property, plant and equipment MEME K EE 13(a) 27,634 29,452
Right-of-use assets FREEE 13(b) 12,793 16,315
Goodwill mE 14 - =
Other intangible asset HthEpEEE 15 - =
Trade receivables FEWNE 5 =18 17 24,024 =
Deferred tax assets IR IEE = 23(b) 39 39
64,490 45,806
Current assets RBEE
Inventories F8 16 25,979 45,455
Trade receivables FEWNE 5 =18 17 147,974 1,383,652
Prepayments, deposits and FENRIE & &
other receivables HA W IE 18 315,409 322,731
Cash and cash equivalents HERIREEEY 19(a) 6,503 7,532
495,865 1,759,370
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables FENE ZRIB 20 74,145 1,280,023
Accruals and other payables FEstE R REMBENRE 27 52,025 31,230
Lease liabilities HEaE 22 1,626 1,196
Tax payable FETIRIE 23(a) 3,561 3,296
131,357 1,315,745
Net current assets RBEEZFE 364,508 443,625
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERTEER 428,998 489,431
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBRRR

AT 31 MARCH 2024 MZE-_ME=H=+—H

2024 2023
—EmF S
Notes HKS$’000 HKS'000
k=3 FET FET
Non-current liabilities ERBAER
Lease liabilities HEEE 22 2,552 5,293
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIEE B 23(b) 66 66
2,618 5,359
Net assets BEERE 426,380 484,072
Equity g
Equity attributable to owners NAB R ANEL#ER
of the Company
Share capital RN 24(b) 4,217 4217
Reserves 1 431,414 488,989
435,631 493,206
Non-controlling interests JEER T (9,251) (9,134)
Total equity EmiEE 426,380 484,072
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directorson ~ JA —ZF — 04,58 —+/\ B & EF it & R IRE

28 June 2024.

Mr. Ho Yu-shun

IS kE

Director

EBF

The notes on pages 65 to 179 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

#Ei7o0

Ms. Sun Le
2 Sodun
Director

EF

BeSE17OEZ HEARSEA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

MOEmEHR

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

HATER AR
Non-
Share Share Merger Capital ~ Statutory Contributed  Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserves surplus reserve profits Total interests equity
Bd  RNEE AGRE  ESHE  iERE  BYBRR  ERRE  REEN A JRERER  RRLE
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FEn FEn Fér FEr FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT FEn FEn
t 1 April 2022 RIZZZFEMA-H 4217 41,970 (1522) 7,851 15,520 31,960 19,142 411,939 531,077 (9,053) 522,024
Profit for the year FRER - - - - - - - 1842 1842 (505) 1337
Reclassification adjustments for HHERBARZ
the deregistration of a subsidiary BN ERE - - - - - - 26 - 26 - 26
Exchange differences arising on BEMBARABRE
translation of financial statements EL7ERER
of subsidiaries - - - - - - (39,739) - (39,739) 424 (39,315)
Total comprehensive expenses FRAZABSEE
for the year - - - - - - (39,713) 1,842 (37,871) (81) (37,952)
Transfer from retained profits to HRGENBEE
statutory reserves T - - - - 2,000 - - (2,000) - - -
Utilisation of reserve HRkE - - - - (548) - - 548 - - -
At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=%F
=A=+—H 417 41,970 (1,522) 7,851 16,972 31,960 (20,571) 412329 493,206 (9134) 484,072
At 1 April 2023 RIZZ=£mA-H 4217 41,970 (1,522) 7,851 16,972 31,960 (20,571) 412,329 493,206 (9,134) 484,072
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - - (30,782)  (30,782) (399)  (31,181)
Exchange differences arising on BERRA DM BRE
translation of financial statements EEZERER
of subsidiaries - - - - - - (26,793) - (26,793) 282 (26,511)
Total comprehensive expenses FRR2EBZLE
for the year - - - - - - (26,793) (30,782) (57,575) (117) (57,692)
Transfer from retained profits to HRGENEEE
statutory reserves TS - - - - 1,060 - - (1,060) - - -
Utilisation of reserve HRkE - - - - (828) - - 828 - - -
At 31 March 2024 RZE-mE
=B=1+-H 4217 41,970 (1,522) 7,851 17,204 31,960 (47,364) 381,315 435,631 (9,251) 426,380
The notes on pages 65 to 179 form part of these consolidated F65F179B Z st AZ S aMBEHRERZ —

financial statements. o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GHAERERER

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #HE_Z_NE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

2024 2023
kol 111 =3 —F=
Notes HK$'000 HKS'000
k=3 FAERT FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REED
(Loss)/profit before taxation FRIG AT (B548) & # (30,234) 3,369
(30,234) 3,369
Adjustments for: MU T RIEEH 2 B .
Finance costs =127 6(a) 639 631
Written off of property, M2~ R 5 B 5% S
plant and equipment 6(c) 33 263
Depreciation for property, ME -BEREEZ
plant and equipment e 6(c) 2,222 2,582
Depreciation for right-of-use assets FREBEEZITE 6(c) 7111 5,714
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries LN =YNEI SE 6(c) - 55
Loss allowance recognised on FEW & 5 7118 B HEER
trade receivables BIIEHE A 6(c) 32,615 1,782
Reversal of impairment loss on B KRFENRIE
deposits and prepayments BEEUR(ERE 6(c) (752) (932)
Reversal of write-down on inventories EFEEMAER] 6(c) (2,413) -
Impairment loss recognised on FE WL 2 G 4 2 TR B
amount due from a non-controlling BB ERE
interest 6(c) 411 391
Loss on lease modification HEENEE 6(c) 736 =
Interest income FE WA 5 (436) (391)
Net foreign exchange gain PE 52w ) /3 28 (1,139) (705)
39,027 9,390
Operating cash flows before movements in & & S & AF] 2
working capital KEIF R R 8,793 12,759
CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL EEETEH
Decrease in inventories EEZ R 19,625 7,845
Decrease/(increase) in BB ZIBEZ
trade receivables B (g hn) 1,090,300 (1,289,790)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, FEBNMIEN SR
deposits and other receivables HthEUWERIEZ
Ggm (8,984) 51,950
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables ENESHEZ
CRiZL) /1 m (1,131,058) 1,233,611
Increase/(decrease) in accruals EsTE R K
and other payables HhfENRIBEZ
12m, e 23,104 (3.722)
(7,013) (106)
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 4E % 2023/24
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

nT =] iﬁﬁl}ll%%

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

2024 2023
bl 111 = .
Notes HK$'000 HKS'000
et F#&T FET
CASH GENERATED FROM REREZRE
OPERATIONS 1,780 12,653
Income tax paid BIPTER
PRC 2] 23(a) (505) (1,483)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM REKE T ZIREFEE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,275 11,170
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KREEE
Bank interest received BUWIRTH R 25 -
Payment for the purchase of ZEEYE - BEK
property, plant and equipment HEZRIE 13(a) (1,983) (3,007)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ARRE GRS ZIREFEE
ACTIVITIES (1,958) (3,007)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES B IEE
Capital element of lease rental paid BENHEEzREEH D - (8,933)
Interest element of lease rental paid BfNEEZH B D - (631)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING BARrmE R IREFEE
ACTIVITIES - (9,564)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND HERREEEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS W BEE (683) (1,401)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RENMZRERIRNEEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 7,532 9,018
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EERFEZZE
RATES CHANGES (346) (85)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REXRZIRERREEEY
END OF THE YEAR 19(a) 6,503 7,532
Major non-cash transactions: FTEIRERS
The lease payment for 2024 with amounted approximately ——Z U4 7 0 & I FREE#Y8,488,00078 7T Iz FE 1
HK$8,488,000 and trade payables amounted approximately B 5 FRIE4715,941,00078 7t B S FE Ut B 5 FUIEIK
HK$15,941,000 were set off with the trade receivables. 5 o

The notes on pages 65 to 179 form part of these consolidated $65F 1798 Z st A% Eird

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\7|'\

Rkt e ES:

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #HE_Z_NE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

New Provenance Everlasting Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is an exempted company incorporated in
Bermuda with limited liability and its shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange. The Company'’s registered
office is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and the principal place of
business in Hong Kong of the Company is located at
Unit 1102, 11/F, Shui On Centre, No. 6-8 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries of
the Company are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

(a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes
all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies (Cap 622) Ordinance. These
consolidated financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
Material accounting policy information adopted
by the Group are disclosed below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance (continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and
amendments to HKFRSs which are mandatorily
effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group.
Note 3 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from the initial
application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for
the current accounting periods reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2024 comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as the “Group”).

Items included in the financial statements
of each entity in the Group are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). These consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HKD”), rounded to the nearest
thousand except for per share data. Hong Kong
dollar is the Company’s functional currency and
the Group's presentation currency.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the financial statements is the historical cost
basis.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other
factors believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant
effect on the consolidated financial statements
and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 31.

MBNEBEEREARGFBRER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(c)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held
by the Group and other parties) are considered.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an entity if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the
elements of control.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated
into the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Intra-group balances,
transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity
in a subsidiary not attributable directly or
indirectly to the Company, and in respect of
which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which
would result in the Group as a whole having
a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(c)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial
position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the owners of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the owners of the Company.
Total comprehensive income or expenses of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in
an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial
position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated
at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(h)
(ii)), unless the investment is classified as held
for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(d)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or groups of
CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represents
the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently whenever there
is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the CGUs (or group of CGUs)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount of the CGU
is less than the carrying amount of the unit,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the unit and then to the other assets of the
unit on a pro - rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit (or group
of CGUs). Any impairment loss for goodwill
is recognised directly in profit or loss. Any
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(d)

(e)

Goodwill (continued)

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any
of the CGU within the group of CGUs, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in
the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of
an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within
a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the
relative values of the operation (or the CGU)
disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the
group of CGUs) retained.

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and
equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses (see note 2(h)(ii)):

- interests in leasehold land and
buildings where the Group is the
registered owner of the property
interest (see note 2(qg));

- right-of-use assets arising from leases
over leasehold properties where the
Group is not the registered owner of the
property interest; and

- other items of plant and equipment,
including right-of-use assets arising
from leases of underlying plant and
equipment (see note 2(g)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2. REBERSAGHHEERR
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (48)
INFORMATION (continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment,
other than construction in progress, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives as follows:
Plant, machinery and  5%-33%
equipment
Furniture and fixtures  20%-25%
Office equipment 20%-33%
Computer equipment  20%-33%
Motor vehicles 20%-30%
Leasehold Over the shorter of
improvements the remaining term
of the lease and the
estimated useful life
of 4 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost
of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis
between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of any component accounted
for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Gain or loss arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference
between the net proceeds on disposal and the
carrying amount of the item and is recognised
in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.

Construction in progress represents property,
plant and equipment in the course of
construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes, which are carried at
cost, less any recognised impairment losses.
Costs include any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Construction in progress are classified
to the appropriate categories of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for
their intended use. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(f)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination are recognised separately from
goodwill and are initially recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date (which is regarded
as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible
assets acquired in a business combination
with finite useful lives are reported at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life
and amortisation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives that are acquired are
stated at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses. The assessment of indefinite
life is reviewed annually to determine whether
the indefinite life continues to be supportable.
If not, the change in useful life from indefinite
to finite is made on a prospective basis.

The following intangible assets with finite
useful lives are amortised from the date they
are available for use and their estimated useful
lives are as follows:

Customer relationship 5 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(f)

(9)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination (continued)

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are
expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses
arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset, is recognised in profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where
the customer has both the right to direct
the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from
that use.

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s)
and non-lease component(s), the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components
and accounts for each lease component and
any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component for all leases.

@%Eﬁ&ik@

(f)

(9)

SRR

mEEE BERKRIN (@

REBSHPIREZ FEEE (B

EREENHERNBREAIH
ERTEEERBLERN &= BFE
HEER - RABUEBRETLEEME
2 Wm kBB B EMMEMRIE
FHAAREEREER Z EBT
2 WHAEBHEERZEERNER

=
e ©

HE

FERETRENTNRERFTGZ
BHEABRENESHE - HE
NABEEMERTE —RERA
PRI R B EEARERN AlZ
BHEEEN e EE-HERA
&I%TuﬁtﬁJE’\fﬁéﬁ’J@%&%*?

16 R o 28 BB K BB 0 Y A S L s
ARG EEEE

1EZ AN

1hm,\’]$kﬁ$ B n kIFHES

AEBEBEETERE HIFHE
‘*ﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂiﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ GRE=FiER =i
&Tﬂﬂ@E%?F%H‘*ﬁﬁﬁkﬁﬁﬁu%
—MHEED

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24  £F ¥R 2023/24

715



16

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

Leases (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease
on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability
is initially recognised at the present value of
the lease payments (less any lease incentives
receivable) payable over the lease term,
discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease
liability and hence are charged to profit or loss
in the accounting period in which they are
incurred. Lease payments also include amounts
expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees; the exercise price of
a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise the option; and payments
of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After initial recognition, the lease liability
is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

Leases (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at cost,
which comprises the initial amount of the lease
liability plus any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the
right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, discounted to their
present value, and is reduced by any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see notes
2(e) and 2(h)(ii)), except for the right-of-use
assets related to leasehold land and buildings
where the Group is the registered owner of
the leasehold interest are carried at cost in
accordance with note 2(e).

If the lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset to the Group by the end of
the lease term or if the cost of the right-of-use
asset reflects that the Group will exercise a
purchase option, the Group shall depreciate
the right-of-use asset from the commencement
date to the end of the useful life of the
underlying asset. Otherwise, the Group shall
depreciate the right-of-use asset from the
commencement date to the earlier of the end
of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the
end of the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the
underlying leased asset at the end of the
lease term, upon exercising purchase option,
the cost of the relevant right-of-use asset
and the related accumulated depreciation
and impairment loss is transferred to the
appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

Leases (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

The initial fair value of refundable rental
deposits is accounted for separately from
the right-of-use assets in accordance with
the accounting policy applicable to financial
asset measured at amortised cost. Any
difference between the initial fair value and
the nominal value of the deposits is accounted
for as additional lease payments made and is
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The Group presents right-of-use assets, that do
not meet the definition of investment property,
in “property, plant and equipment”, the same
line item within which the corresponding
underlying assets would be presented if they
were owned. Right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property are presented
within “investment properties”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

Leases (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is
a change in future lease payments arising from
a change in an index or rate used to determine
those payments, or there is a change in the
Group’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee,
by discounting the revised lease payments
using an unchanged discount rate, unless
the change in lease payments results from a
change in floating interest rates. In that case,
the lessee shall use a revised discount rate that
reflects changes in the interest rate. When there
is a change arising from the reassessment of
whether the Group will be reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option, the lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate, being the interest
rate implicit in the lease for the remainder
of the lease term, or the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate at the date of reassessment, if
the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot
be readily determined. When the lease
liability is remeasured in either of these ways,
a corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

Leases (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease or the
consideration for a lease that is not originally
provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) and that is not accounted for as
a separate lease. In this case, the consideration
in the modified contract is allocated to each
lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component
and the associated non-lease components are
included in the respective lease components.
The lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using
a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification. The only exceptions are
rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
met the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of
HKFRS 16. In such cases, the Group has taken
advantage of the practical expedient not to
assess whether the rent concessions are lease
modifications, and recognised the change
in consideration as negative variable lease
payments in profit or loss in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the rent
concessions occurred.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a
separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position. In the
consolidated statement of financial position,
the current portion of long-term lease
liabilities is determined as the present value of
contractual payments that are due to be settled
within twelve months after the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance
for expected credit losses (“ECLs”)
on the financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables and other
receivables).

Other financial assets measured at
fair value are not subject to the ECL
assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses over
the expected life of the financial
instrument. Credit losses are measured
as the present value of all expected
cash shortfalls (that is, the difference
between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are
discounted using the following discount
rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

- fixed-rate financial assets,
trade receivables and other
receivables: effective interest
rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation
thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets:
current effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without
undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the

following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses
that are expected to result
from possible default events
within the 12 months after the

reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses
that are expected to result from
all possible default events over
the expected life of a financial

instrument.

Loss allowances for trade receivables
are always measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on trade
receivables are estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting

date.

For all other financial instruments, the
Group recognises a loss allowance equal
to 12-month ECLs unless there has been
a significant increase in credit risk of
the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount

equal to lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of
a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In particular, the following
information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

- failure to make payments of
principal or interest on their
contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial
instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

- existing or forecast changes
in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment
that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability
to meet its obligation to the
Group;

- an actual or expected internal
credit rating downgrade for the
borrower;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M B RRITE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

NEW PROVENANCE EVERLASTING HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥iEEIEIZEREREAT

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(1)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk
(continued)

an actual or expected significant
change in the operating results
of the borrower;

significant increases in credit risk
on other financial instruments of
the same borrower;

significant changes in the value
of the collateral supporting
the obligation or in the quality
of third-party guarantees or
credit enhancements, which
are expected to reduce the
borrower’s economic incentive
to make scheduled contractual
payments or to otherwise have
an effect on the probability of a
default occurring; and

significant changes in the
expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower.

The Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk
(continued)

Depending on the nature of the
financial instruments, the assessment
of a significant increase in credit risk
is performed on either an individual
basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial instruments are
grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECLs
amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M B RRITE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

NEW PROVENANCE EVERLASTING HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥iEEIEIZEREREAT

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management,
the Group considers that a default
event occurs when (i) the borrower is
unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or
(ii) the financial asset is 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function
of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical
data and forward -looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.
The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking
information.

2.

MREEREARGFHRER

(&)

(h)

SEERKREERE ()

()

THITRZIFERR (&

BANER

HREAFEERREIE
WVEBEAPR KA SERAEE
INEHEEET MAZ
BAREEZERTEH (W#&
KFR WERA) 1)) ;
(i) Z &R E ER o0  »
AEBRBENSHEE
BRIEAEEBESEMASE
EREERAFTENEN
ZEABAHBERER &
EREgEZEABYRECRE
EREEEN GEREEN
HAREBEZRAFZE DM
Al 18 2 FE 2 A% B K A RE 1%

TEHIEERBEN 2k HE R
FEHEERIENFENE
WX EHNBEE BIEE
BORHNEBEEEE) REQ
BRI - WENHET
BOBENTETERE
SEHFRAIEIEER - AR
EEBRENMGE RBRUE
BHEBNRR A EER
ERNERBEEMNETRE E
SRR RALIB B DU IR
SRR AIHEEER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income
Interest income recognised in accordance
with note 2(s)(ii) is calculated based
on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on
the amortised cost (that is, the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of
the financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group
assesses whether a financial asset is
credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M B RRITE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2. RUBERBEAGHBRER

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (48)
INFORMATION (continued)

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets (h) SEBEMEERE (B)

(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (i)
(continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets
(continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes the following
observable events:

significant financial difficulties
of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;

- the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

- it becoming probable that
the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

- significant changes in the
technological, market,
economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on
the debtor; or

- the purchase or origination of a
financial asset at a deep discount
that reflects the incurred credit
losses; or

- the disappearance of an active
market for a security because
of financial difficulties of the
issuer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

(1)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is written off (either partially or
in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows
to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset
that was previously written off are
recognised as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which
the recovery occurs.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that
have an indefinite useful life are
tested annually for impairment, or
more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that they
might be impaired. Other assets are
tested for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may be
recoverable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2. RNEEREAGHBREHR
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (#8)
INFORMATION (continued)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets (h) SEBEMEERE (B)
(continued)
(ii) Impairment of non-financial assets (i) M EERE (B
(continued)

Internal and external sources of
information are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets
may be impaired or, except in the
case of goodwill, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment,
including right-of-use assets;

- other intangible asset;

- goodwill;

- prepayments and deposits; and

- investments in subsidiaries in

the Company’s statement of
financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i) Impairment of non-financial assets
(continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. In
addition, for goodwill, intangible assets
that are not yet available for use and
intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives, the recoverable amount
is estimated annually whether or not
there is any indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable
amount

The recoverable amount of an
asset is the greater of its fair
value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of
the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. Where
an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent
of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates
cash inflows independently
(i.e. a cash-generating unit).
A portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset (for
example, head office building) is
allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if the allocation
can be done on a reasonable
and consistent basis, or to
the smallest group of (cash-
generating units) if otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

92

2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2. HRUBERBEREAHREH
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (&)
INFORMATION (continued)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets (h) SEBEMEERE (B)
(continued)
(ii) Impairment of non-financial assets (i) M EERE (B
(continued)
= Recognition of impairment R ERE
losses
An impairment loss is EEENMBRE
recognised in profit or loss EXBUZREE
whenever the carrying amount =R HE AU el & 28
of an asset, or the cash- BF > AR 1E m FE SRR
generating unit to which it BEEE-REELS

NEW PROVENANCE EVERLASTING HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥iEEIEIZEREREAT

belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) and
then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in
the unit (or group of units) on
a pro rata basis, except that the
carrying amount of an asset
will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable) or value
in use (if determinable).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

(iii)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(continued)

- Reversal of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than
goodwill, an impairment loss
is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of
goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss
is limited to the asset’s carrying
amount that would have been
determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.

Interim financial reporting and
impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, the Group is
required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with HKAS 34,
Interim Financial Reporting, in respect
of the first six months of the financial
year. At the end of the interim period,
the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria
as it would at the end of the financial
year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

(i)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(iii) Interim financial reporting and
impairment (continued)

Impairment losses recognised in an
interim period in respect of goodwill
are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss,
or a smaller loss, would have been
recognised had the impairment been
assessed only at the end of the financial
year to which the interim period relates.

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in
the ordinary course of business, in the process
of production for such sale or in the form of
materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average
cost formula and comprises all costs of
purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(i

(j)

Inventories (continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount
of those inventories is recognised as an expense
in the period in which the related revenue is
recognised. The amount of any write-down of
inventories to net realisable value and all losses
of inventories are recognised as an expense
in the period the write-down or loss occurs.
The amount of any reversal of any write-down
of inventories is recognised as a reduction in
the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration.
A right to receive consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue
has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration,
the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component are initially
measured at their transaction prices. Trade
receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
All receivables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost, using the effective interest
method, less allowance for expected credit
losses (see note 2(h)(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(k)

()]

(m)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured
initially at fair value less attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy
for borrowing costs (see note 2(u)). Fees paid
on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan
to the extent that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down. In this
case, the fee is deferred until the drawdown
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
prepayment for liquidity service and amortised
over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially
recognised at fair value and are subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at
banks and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of
the consolidated statement of cash flows. Cash
and cash equivalents are assessed for expected
credit losses (ECLs) in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2(h)(i).

Cash at bank excludes bank balances that are
subject to regulatory restrictions that result in
such balances no longer meeting the definition
of cash.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(n)

(o)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control
the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured
at amortised cost, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group'’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M B RRITE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(p)

Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

Short-term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual
leave, contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans and
the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

Equity-settled share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted
to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a share option reserve
within equity. The fair value is measured
at grant date, without taking into
consideration of all non-market vesting
conditions, using the Binomial Model,
taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees
have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to
the share options, the total estimated
fair value of the options is spread over
the vesting period, taking into account
the probability that the options will
vest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(p)

Employee benefits (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Equity-settled share-based payments
(continued)

During the vesting period, the number
of share options expected to vest is
reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to
the cumulative fair value recognised
in prior years is charged/credited to
the profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an
asset, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share option reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of share options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment
to the share option reserve) except
where forfeiture is only due to not
achieving market vesting conditions
that relate to the market price of the
Company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the share option reserve
until either the option is exercised when
it is transferred to the share premium
account or the option expires (when it
is released directly to retained profits).
When the share options are forfeited
prior to the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in capital reserve
will be transferred to retained profits.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised
at the earlier of when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises
restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(q)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities. Current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(q)

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all
deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax
assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided that
those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse either in the same period
as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary differences or in periods into which
a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can
be carried back or forward. The same criteria are
adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
unused tax losses and credits, that is, the entity
has sufficient taxable temporary differences
relating to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, which will result in taxable
amounts against which the unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(q)

Income tax (continued)
The limited exceptions to recognition of
deferred tax assets and liabilities are:

temporary differences arising from
goodwill not deductible for tax
purposes;

temporary differences arising from the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit (provided they are not
part of a business combination) and
do not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences;

temporary differences relating to
investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures to the extent that
the Group controls the timing of the
reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the
future; and

temporary differences related to income
taxes arising from tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted to implement
the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(q)

Income tax (continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when
the liability to pay the related dividends is
recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances,
and movements therein, are presented
separately from each other and are not offset.
Current tax assets are offset against current
tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against
deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or
the Group has the legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and
liabilities, the Company or the Group
intends either to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(q)

Income tax (continued)

- in the case of deferred tax assets and
liabilities, if they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority
on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities,
which, in each future period in
which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the
current tax assets and settle
the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax
treatments, the Group considers whether it is
probable that a taxation authority will accept
an uncertain tax treatment. If it is probable that
the taxation authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment, the Group shall determine the
taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused
tax losses, unused tax credits or tax rates
consistently with the tax treatment used or
planned to be used by a group entity in its
income tax filings. If it is not probable that the
taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax
treatment, the Group shall reflect the effect of
uncertainty in determining the related taxable
profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses,
unused tax credits or tax rates, by using either
the most likely amount method or the expected
value method, depending on which method the
Group expects to better predict the resolution
of the uncertainty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(r)

Provisions, contingent liabilities and
onerous contracts

(1)

(i)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when
the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation arising as a
result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required,
or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed
as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of
one or more certain future events not
wholly within the control of the Group
is also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the
Group has a contract under which
the unavoidable costs of meeting the
obligations under the contract exceed
the economic benefits expected to
be received from the contract. The
cost of fulfilling a contract comprises
the costs that relate directly to the
contract, which consist of both the
incremental costs of fulfilling that
contract (e.g., direct labour and
materials); and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling
contracts --for example, an allocation
of the depreciation charge for an item
of property, plant and equipment used
in fulfilling that contract. Provisions
for onerous contracts are measured
at the present value of the lower of
the expected cost of terminating the
contract and the net cost of fulfilling
with the contract.

2.

E%EE&EK &5t BERE R

(r)

BRE -HRERREESE

(1)

(i)

EXAEEEMBEE4K
EERNEENEESE
BERTEEATEAEREK
B 25 3 7] E W R 58 1 5T
R EERREE - HEE
NEFEEBEE A BlZiE

BTZEEMBHXIHIER
BB -
fisd 7~ K AT BE 7 Z A8 B ) mn

W S EAH B AR
He S bst ZEERIEE
ABIUABE ELEHN @R
H:I'E’JT%’\&#T(EE%%% i

TEFERFE—FHZ
%ﬁ;@x%%ﬁﬁ%%
HEEANNRLEEGH=RS
BAEFURERSERE H
DIN=E 4 ffk”‘%f ) AR
B H 25 O RS B BE 1 AR
BBRSMo

B

BESH
EEGONREREFEE K
EREEE—NEHN RES
,’Jf—?éfﬁcZT{\ﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁi
Z'SELEZS%’J%EEHHH&Z
AR E N am - BT A ‘JE’JEJZ
FEEAGNERBRN
B HREiERITE AR
BEA PIMEEATIR
MiED ; BETEMNEEME
BB HMA AN DR (F11
ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ kY E N
<EEENITEERN
ﬁ@a) BEEGAOBHERR
LEENNRMRERET
BB FEME ZR
BREZREFE

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24  £F ¥R 2023/24

105



106

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(s)

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue
when it arises from the sale of goods in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over
a product or service is transferred to the
customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes
and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant
financing benefit to the customer for more
than 12 months, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would
be reflected in a separate financing transaction
with the customer at contract inception, and
interest income is accrued separately under
the effective interest method. Where the
contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the
Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest
method. The Group takes advantage of the
practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS
15 and does not adjust the consideration
for any effects of a significant financing
component if the period of financing is 12
months or less.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing
goods or services to a customer, the Group
determines whether the nature of its promise
is a performance obligation to provide the
specified goods or services itself (that is, the
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those
goods or services to be provided by the other
party (that is, the Group is an agent).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(s)

Revenue and other income (continued)
Principal versus agent (continued)

The Group is a principal if it controls the
specified good or service before that good or
service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance
obligation is to arrange for the provision of
the specified good or service by another party.
In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another
party before that good or service is transferred
to the customer. When the Group acts as an
agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of
any fee or commission to which it expects to
be entitled in exchange for arranging for the
specified goods or services to be provided by
the other party.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the
customer takes possession of and
accepts the products. If the products
are a partial fulfilment of a contract
covering other goods and/or services,
then the amount of revenue recognised
is an appropriate proportion of the total
transaction price under the contract,
allocated between all the goods and
services promised under the contract
on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M B RRITE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

NEW PROVENANCE EVERLASTING HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥iEEIEIZEREREAT

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(s)

Revenue and other income (continued)

Principal versus agent (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it
accrues under the effective interest
method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For
financial assets (other than purchased
or originated credit-impaired financial
assets) measured at amortised cost that
are not credit-impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit-
impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (that is, gross carrying amount net
of loss allowance) of the asset (see note

2(h)(@)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised
when in the statement of financial
position initially when there is
reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them.
Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised as
income in profit or loss of the period
in which it becomes receivable. Grants
that compensate the Group for the
cost of an asset are deducted from
the carrying amount of the asset and
consequently are effectively recognised
in profit or loss over the useful
life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(t)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year
are translated at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss, except those
arising from foreign currency borrowings
used as effective hedge a net investment in a
foreign operation which are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates and are not re-
translated. The transaction date is the date on
which the Group initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies stated at fair value are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions are
used. Statement of financial position items,
including goodwill arising on consolidation of
foreign operations acquired on or after 1 April
2005, are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the closing foreign exchange rates ruling at
the end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange reserve.
Goodwill arising on consolidation of a foreign
operation acquired before 1 April 2005 is
translated at the foreign exchange rate that
applied at the date of acquisition of the foreign
operation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(t)

(u)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)
On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
lost of control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation that does
not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences is re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and is
not recognised in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of
an asset which necessarily takes a substantial
period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that
asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part
of the cost of a qualifying asset commences
when expenditure for the asset is being
incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the
asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended
or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for
its intended use or sale are interrupted or
completed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(v) Related parties

A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

(i)

(a)

has control or joint control over
the Group;

has significant influence over
the Group; or

is a member of the key
management personnel of the
Group or the Group's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any
of the following conditions applies:

(a)

The entity and the Group are
members of the same group
(which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary
is related to the others).

One entity is an associate
or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group
of which the other entity is a
member).

Both the entity and the Group
are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture
of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third
entity.

]
(i)

EAL

MBNEBEEREARGFBRER

BT AL Bl AL
Z A 1 RR R 2 ) B 2K AR

BRAERARME

@@ G HEEES &
&8 ;

b)) HEEBBFEAF

i

-1

RAEEEHEER
BRAEZETEER
ABe

TEMERMR A B Z

EREAEERFRAE

(a)

ZEREAERE
A—EEZHRERE
(GIE=SSFNIRN )=
ABERERKER
Bl L RR ) o

—HEERS B
BZBMEARARE
EhE(HNE—B
BAMERBZE
EETHRERBZ

BMEATHEGE D

S
all

HERZEE

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24  £F ¥R 2023/24

111



112

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2. REBERSAGHHEERR
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (48)
INFORMATION (continued)
(v) Related parties (continued) (v) REAL (@
(i) An entity is related to the Group if any (i) i fF & TIME MR > BllsZ

of the following conditions applies:

(continued)

(e) The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the
Group.

(f) The entity is controlled or
jointly controlled by a person
identified in (i).

(9) A person identified in (i)(a) has
significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the
entity).

(h) The entity or any member of
a group of which it is a part,
provides key management
personnel services to the Group
or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person
are those family members who may be
expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with
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the entity.
(w)  Segment reporting (w) SRS
Operating segments, and the amounts of each REDBERNVBERRERZED
segment item reported in the discrete financial FIEHERE LIREMRPEERT
statements, are identified from the financial AEBSEBERME D FETTEE
information provided regularly to the Group's RIAMERIRB T ARERITEAEE
chief executive officer (the chief operating (FEZSEREAN) 2HBERM
decision maker) for the purposes of allocating HERE o

resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(w)

(x)

Segment reporting (continued)

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material
may be aggregated if they share a majority of
these criteria.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to
the issue of new ordinary shares are shown
in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.
Consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs, for purchase of
the Company’s ordinary shares is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the
purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company'’s ordinary shares. Shares purchased
and held by the Company’s share award trust
are disclosed as treasury shares and presented
in capital reserve. When the treasury shares
are subsequently reissued, any consideration
received, net of any directly attributable
incremental transaction costs, is included in
equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(y)

Interest rate benchmark reform

When the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows of a financial asset or financial
liability measured at amortised cost changes
as a result of interest rate benchmark reform,
the Group updates the effective interest rate
of the financial asset or financial liability to
reflect the change that is required by interest
rate benchmark reform. A change in the basis
for determining the contractual cash flows is
required by interest rate benchmark reform if,
and only if, both these conditions are met:

(@) the change is necessary as a direct
consequence of interest rate benchmark
reform; and

(b) the new basis for determining the

contractual cash flows is economically
equivalent to the previous basis, i.e.
the basis immediately preceding the
change).

When changes are made to a financial asset or
financial liability in addition to changes to the
basis for determining the contractual cash flows
required by interest rate benchmark reform,
the Group first updates the effective interest
rate of the financial asset or financial liability
to reflect the changes required by interest rate
benchmark reform. The Group then applies the
policies on accounting modifications to the
additional changes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS AND HONG KONG
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs and HKASs issued by the
HKICPA to these consolidated financial statements for
the current accounting period for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s financial
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2023:

HKFRS 17 and related
amendments

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Insurance Contracts

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8  Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform - Pillar
Two Model Rules

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs and
HKASs in the current year has had no material effect
on the amounts reported and/or disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

The Group has not applied any amendments to HKFRSs
that are not yet mandatorily effective for the current
accounting period, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

3.

BRASESIERMBREERR
EAEsHER

RIE-_=F—RB—BRZERAEHIMIK
FERB AERGRAS S REZELR
EMBBRRHEERERA TN BEEBI
MAGRMZHE]BBMBFREERE
B ERREETA

BBYBREER REEX
F17RRERERT &
ERAGHENBIRR S ERKE
BEMBREEL

BERMASB2RL

(EREN

BAGEERF8 BEMEFT ZER
ZAEFT A
ERGHENF2E BE-XZEEZ
ZAEFT A BEERBEAM

AR AR IE

EAGHENF125E BERRGINRE—-
ZAEFT A o e L

A

RAEFERBEBYBRSEINKRESRS
STEAES AN ZEFR M BT RERARE
ZEER/HEINZRBLEBEBRERE
%,

REB W TN ARG 5 HIE R ER H KRR
FIEMM BB BIREER ZEFTE T
AFEERAMIEEVBREENREE
SIRHAERRAFERBEFENMHNR
MRRBURZEREMBHRRTPAIEB
WETEERTZE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4., WHEkDEBRE

(a) Revenue (a) I &
(i) Disaggregation of revenue (i) Wz 77 HF
Disaggregation of revenue from RIEEROIRELEN
contracts with customers by major Wedn® -

products is as follows:

2024 2023
—EmE —E2=
HKs’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Revenue from contracts EAMBREENE1558
with customers within HEANZEREHWE
the scope of HKFRS 15
Sourcing and sale of metal XEKRIHE T BIEY &
minerals and related AR T 2R
industrial materials 731,918 1,768,648
Production and sale of EEMBETEBESR
industrial products 132,387 119,650
864,305 1,888,298
Disaggregated by BERZMIBMUE DT
geographical location
of customers
- Hong Kong (place of — &% (GEitE)
domicile) - =
- PRC except Hong Kong —HE (HHRIN 864,305 1,888,298
864,305 1,888,298
Revenue from the above categories are B k2 48 Bl B9 UK 23 BR B
recognised at point in time. SRy
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

4, REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)

(a)

(b)

Revenue (continued)

(i) Revenue expected to be recognised in
the future arising from contracts with
customers in existence at the reporting
date

All sales contracts with customers
are for periods of one year or less.
As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these
contracts for the remaining unsatisfied
performance obligations is not
disclosed.

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions,
which are organised by business lines. In a
manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s
chief executive officer (the chief operating
decision maker) for the purposes of resources
allocation and performance assessment, the
Group has presented the following three
reportable segments.

(i) Sourcing and sale of metal minerals and
related industrial materials;

(ii) Production and sale of industrial
products; and

(iii) Others

Others segment represents business activities
and operating segments not separately
reported, including provision of logistics
services.

4. WaEkDEHRS (B

(a)

(b)

W (48)
(i) FREIRAATBLISER & AR
Y& P G AR Z 1L

Im

PREERBEESNRH—
FHUR - MBEBMBRS
2R B 155EFT ST > BLER T
RETZERHNEEMD K
ERFANZIRZEREK
T LUK EE

SRS
REBBOBREEBRER MoOE
AREFZERER - ERMERD
Fo e R IR T B A £ BT E A &
(FBEERRAN) AMERER
ZAR—B FEEEEZ5 T =
(ERE g =k

(i) KBRS ZEEY MA
A LERE

(ii) CERNETERESR &

(iii) HAth
HthHEiEm REB2RMNER

EEREED R BEEEY AR
?%O
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

4.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)

(b)

Segment reporting (continued)
Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment
performance and allocating resources between
segments, the Group’s chief executive officer
monitors the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Segment assets include property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill, other
intangible asset, inventories, trade receivables,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables
and deferred tax assets of each segment.
Segment liabilities include lease liabilities,
trade payables, accruals and other payables,
tax payable and deferred tax liabilities of each
segment.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to
the reportable segments with reference to
sales generated by those segments and the
expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation of assets
attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit
is gross profit less selling and distribution costs
of each segment.

In addition to receiving segment information
concerning segment profits, the Group’s chief
executive officer is provided with segment
information concerning revenue, depreciation,
finance costs, income tax expense and
additions to non-current segment assets used
by the segments in their operations. Inter-
segment sales are priced with reference to price
charged to external parties for similar orders.

4.

W R RS (48)

(b)

DERE (B
DIEEE BEEREE

RGO ERERRDEZED
RER AEBEZTBARHIZUT
EEERXE2RDEMEZE
B EERBR:

NREEQEIDEZIYE -BE
hEE ERBEE -BE HithE
FEE 78 BWEZWE AN
RRIA ~ R T HL A U R TE B SE
MEFE - DEEREERDEZ
HEER BYEZNE Et&
FB Jse ELA FE A FRIE ~ FE (T AR I KR
IERIEE(E -

WKk fZ b2 EZEDERSZ
HEEAZEDEREEZR
HRZEDEREEEZITEME
E2ZR% DEER2HR DM

ERDRENFAAZFAERRASE
DEZ BN BIHE R DA

BERSERMDESN 2 DEER
Sh > REBITBBEERHENEE
RO BEERAA R ITE R
BERE FISMAXRAEIFRE
DEEBEZDEER - DEFHE
Th2EFEINRE P ELET B U
ZBREE-
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4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4. WEKRAERS (@)
(continued)
(b)  Segment reporting (continued) (b) DERS @)
Segment results, assets and liabilities DIEE EEREE (B)
(continued)
The accounting policy information of the KREDB Gt BERE R HHTE?2
operating segments are the same as the Ptz REB 2 BERGFTBERER
Group's material accounting policy information GEIEKS
described in note 2.
Information regarding the Group's reportable HE_ZNFERZZEZ=F=A
segments as provided to the Group’s chief —t+—HLEFE REFTAERT
executive officer for the purposes of resources BRBIEERD B R D BERIR
allocation and assessment of segment ZAREEF 2|RDFE 2 ERHIN
performance for the years ended 31 March T 3
2024 and 2023 are set out below:
2024
ZEINE
Sourcing
and sale of
metal
minerals Production
and related and sale of
industrial industrial
materials products Others Total
RERHE
BRI YERME
HRIERY T#RER Hith Wt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET FET FET
Reportable segment revenue RE/NREEZ
from external customers  FI2R DM 731,918 132,387 - 864,305
Reportable segment profit  AJ 2R 485 A 4,617 6,836 - 11,453
Depreciation for property, ~ ¥1¥ BB MR ETE
plant and equipment - (2,222) - (2,222)
Depreciation for FREEENE
right-of-use assets - (7,111) - (7,111)
Finance costs MEMAE - (639) - (639)
Income tax expense PriStRp s - (947) - (947)
Reportable segment assets ] 2 IRDIEEE 351,023 201,379 8 552,410
Additions to non-current  ERREIERE
segment assets NEEE
during the year - 6,410 - 6,410
Reportable segment liabilities?] 23k D 8 & & (60,825) (66,218) (3,560) (130,603)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M B RRITE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4.

W R RS (48)

(continued)
(b)  Segment reporting (continued) (b) SEEHRE (&)
Segment results, assets and liabilities TEEEE BEREE (B)
(continued)
2023
“ET=fF
Sourcing
and sale of
metal
minerals Production
and related and sale of
industrial industrial
materials products Others Total
RERHEE
EBENK FERHE
HEIEREY TXRER Hit st
HKS000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FET FET FET FET
Reportable segment revenue  REINAZEZ
from external customers EELEi ol 1,768,648 119,650 - 1,888,298
Reportable segment profit A2 R &A] 8,546 9,381 = 17,927
Depreciation for property, 1% = KRBT
plant and equipment E - (2,581) = (2,581)
Depreciation for FREEENE
right-of-use assets - (5,714) - (5,714)
Finance costs REMA - (631) - (631)
Income tax expense PrigitRs - (2,031) (1) (2,032)
Reportable segment assets ~ B] 2R EEE 1,581,494 214,795 8 1,796,297
Additions to non-current FRREERE
segment assets DREE
during the year - 3,007 - 3,007
Reportable segment liabilities P] 2K EEE (1,271,536) (42,257) (3,725) (1,317,518)
There are no inter-segment sales during the HE_ZNWER_ZEZ=F=

years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

B=+—HLEFE > LEDBHH

£ o

=
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4.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

W R IR S (48)

(continued)
(b)  Segment reporting (continued) (b) DERS @)
Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, AE2RNERE BN -BEE -8&
profit, assets, liabilities and other items: KREMIBEE 2 HER
2024 2023
—EZmE —EC=F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Revenue &
Total reportable segment revenue AIE2mRD BN M LEEE 864,305 1,888,298
Elimination of inter-segment revenue ¥4 /) $875 U &5 - -
Consolidated revenue e 864,305 1,888,298
Profit it )
Total reportable segment profit REAERIARRZ
derived from the Group's external BIEX 5o shnvilkts
customers 11,453 17,927
Other net income HMg A F%E 3,169 2,185
Depreciation for property, plantand ~ FA 5T & 2 $8iEF] RF R 5 A
equipment of reportable segment ZA2WRDBM2WE
not included in measurement of BB KR EITE
segment profit (5) 4)
Depreciation for right-of-use REtBR R R A
assets of reportable segment ZARE2RDEZ
not included in measurement of FRAREENE
segment profit (67) (540)
Loss allowance recognised FE W B 5 FIEE FEE
on trade receivables BiakE (32,615) (1,782)
Reversal of impairment loss on & RBNRIERRLRE
deposits and prepayments 518 752 932
Impairment loss recognised on FEUIE S B i s T IE
amount due from a non- B BIERE
controlling interest (411) (391)
Reversal of write-down on 15 & #8 [I HUR
inventories 2,413 -
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries =+ #H Iff & ‘2 B k518 - (55)
Loss on lease modification HEERER (736) o
Finance costs BB A (639) (631)
Unallocated head office and ROFCAEMER REERS
corporate expenses
- Depreciation for property, plant —ME -BERREITE
and equipment - (1)
- Staff costs (including directors’ —BIMA (BEES
emoluments) Hra) (6,448) (7,250)
- Others —HAth (7,100) (7,021)
Consolidated (loss)/profit before I EbR AT (5518) /&A
taxation (30,234) 3,369
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4.

W R RS (48)

(continued)
(b)  Segment reporting (continued) (b) SEEHRE (&)
2024 2023
“EZmE S
HK$’000 HKS000
FHET FHET
Assets BE
Total reportable segment assets AIE2RDEEERE 552,410 1,796,297
Elimination of inter-segment 85 48 5] 8 W B
receivable - -
552,410 1,796,297
Unallocated head office and ROFCAEMERREEEE
corporate assets
- Cash and cash equivalents - REMREEEY 6,503 7,532
- Others —H 1,442 1,347
Consolidated total assets REBERE 560,355 1,805,176
Liabilities afE
Total reportable segment liabilities ~ PJ 2D iEE E4858 130,603 1,317,518
Elimination of inter-segment payable ¥ %) 4575 F& I B - =
130,603 1,317,518
Unallocated head office and KOoMBMERREEER
corporate liabilities
- Others —H A 3,372 3,586
Consolidated total liabilities meBaERE 133,975 1,321,104
Other items Hthg g
Depreciation for property, ME BB RS EITE
plant and equipment
Reportable segment total O] 2R D BAREE 2,222 2,581
Unallocated head office and KB ER K
corporate total R - 1
Consolidated total e MBE 2,222 2,582
Depreciation for right-of-use assets £ FEE EITE
Reportable segment total A2} N R 7,111 5714
Unallocated head office and ROECABMER K
corporate total PEEAERE - =
Consolidated total IREHRER 7,111 5714
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4, WERDHEHRS (B8)

(continued)
(b)  Segment reporting (continued) (b) DERS @)
2024 2023
—TomE S
HK$’000 HKS000
FET FET
Other items (continued) Htigg (&)
Income tax expense PSR
Reportable segment total A 2R D BAEEE 947 2,032
Unallocated head office and RO ABMER K
corporate total oL - =
Consolidated total IREHeER 947 2,032
Additions to non-current segment FRABEFRBDEEE
assets during the year
Reportable segment total A2 D FEAEEE 6,410 3,007
Unallocated head office and ROFCABMER K
corporate total LR - -
Consolidated total e R 6,410 3,007
Revenue from major products and services T EEZRRE S W
The following is an analysis of the Group’s UTAAERREBTEE B2 WS
revenue from its major products: DA
2024 2023
—EBmE =
HK$’000 HKS'000
FAET FET
Metal minerals and related industrial =& /& §&%) K fARE T 2 R}
materials 731,918 1,768,648
Industrial products THHE®R 132,387 119,650
864,305 1,888,298
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

4.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)

(b)

Segment reporting (continued)
Geographic information

The following is an analysis of geographical
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external
customers; and (ii) the Group’s property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill,
trade receivables and other intangible asset.
The geographical location of customers is
based on the location at which the products
were delivered. The geographical locations of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets is based on the physical location of
the assets under consideration. In the case of
goodwill and other intangible asset, it is based
on the location of the operation to which they
are allocated.

4.

W R RS (48)

(b)

DERE (B

B E R
TREIWAEERBEIFRERZ
Wk ; Re(iAEBYZE - BB KRR
B -EREEE BE - BKES
AR EMETE ELMIEAES
DZAM-BERZMBAETHIRI
NERZUB D -ME--BEK
REREABEEZMBUETR
BFFEBREEZERMUES D o5t
HMEREMETLEEMS  BIRE
REBDILZEEXBAENES
5o

Revenue from

external customers

Non-current assets

RBESIARBERZWE ERBEE

2024 2023 2024 2023
—EomE = “EZOE "=
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET FAET FET
Hong Kong (place of &% (GE 1 25)

domicile) - - - -
PRC except Hong Kong F T (FA&BRSIN 864,305 1,888,298 64,451 45,767
864,305 1,888,298 64,451 45,767
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4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)

(b)

Segment reporting (continued)
Information about major customers
Revenue from customers contributing 10%

or more of the total sales of the Group are as
follows:

W R IR S (48)

(b)

DERE (B

BT EERZEN
HEEEBHEREI0%HIU LT
BT -

2024 2023
—E-OFE —E=2=
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Customer A ZEA 731,918 1,711,173
Note: Htat .

Revenue from the above customer arose from the
business of sourcing and sale of metal minerals and
related industrial materials.

ERERZB@TRERERIHETR
TR R AR T2 R 27 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

5. OTHER NET INCOME 5. HtkAZREE
2024 2023
—E-MmE B
HKs’000 HKS'000
FAET FAET
Interest income on bank deposits TERZHEWA 25 -
Interest income on amount due from a F’g%@ﬂ“ﬁﬂ% i IE
non-controlling interest IISYY N 411 391
Total interest income on financial MR ASTEC SREE
assets measured at amortised cost ZHBURA 48 %E 436 391
Sundry income ﬁFﬁIELIﬂZ)\ 27 652
Net foreign exchange gain U R EE 2,706 1,046
Government grant (note) Blﬁﬂﬁ,ﬁﬁ (Ht3%) - 96
3,169 2,185
Note: Mzt -
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group successfully BE_ZS_=F=ZBA=+—HULEFE #X&£EH
applied for funding support from the Employment Support HINRFEEBFINTRERNERENEREE
Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the TRUZEMEFEERVEZIE -BEE2H
Government of HKSAR. The purpose of the funding is to HNATEERHMEBEEZREUARBOIEGSRENDN
provide financial support to enterprises to retain their BE - EZMMMGERT  AEEBERESZBA
employees who would otherwise be made redundant. Under TEMUGAEAEHREREBNIE 28T
the terms of the grant, the Group is required not to make BREfEETIE-

redundancies during the subsidy period and to spend all the
funding on paying wages to the employees.
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(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

6. [RiAA1 (B518) &

BrFiEl (B548) mF BNk (K% T3
ES-

(crediting):
2024 2023
—EmE 2=
HKS$’000 HKS'000
FAET FAET
(a) Finance costs R R 7
Interest on lease liabilities HE&EFE 639 631
Total interest expense on financial W IEFE A BT A
liabilities not at fair value through BmzEMEans
profit or loss P PN g cE 639 631
(b)  Employee benefits expenses EERAMAX
(including directors’ emoluments) (@,ﬁ%;?ﬁﬂiﬂ)
Salaries, wages and other benefits B TER
Hﬂﬂ%” A 20,666 20,131
Contributions to defined contribution T#TMEW%J%'J
retirement plans ZT £ 296 2,515
20,962 22,646
(c) Other items Hhigg

Cost of inventories (note (i) FEMA (M) 852,272 1,869,190

Auditor’s remuneration 1% 24 B i B 730 700

Depreciation for property, plant and ME BB KR

equipment REEITE 2,222 2,582

Depreciation for right-of-use assets BEEITE 7,111 5,714

Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries  sE#5[ /B A B &8 - 55

Loss on lease modification HEENEE 736 -

Loss allowance recognised on trade FEW & 5 7118 B M ER

receivables (note (ii) EiERE (/J’/YE(//)) 32,615 1,782

Reversal of impairment loss on & K TR FRIE#E O]

deposits and prepayments AR (752) (932)
Impairment loss recognised on FEWIE B HE s TR I8

amount due from a non-controlling EERRERSIE

interests 411 391
Reversal of write-down on inventories 7% & 3 [B] iU (2,413) =
Written off of property, plant and IER =0

equipment % 17 8 33 263

Notes: Wit .

(i) Cost of inventories, being the carrying (i) FZERA BPEEEFEEZEE)
amount of inventories sold, included BREBEE_ZS_MNER_Z
approximately HK$22,391,000 (2023: —_=EFE=ZB=1+—HIEEFE
approximately HK$20,609,000) relating Z2ERHEERIIMZ Y=
to employee benefits expenses and BERSETEUARERAEER
depreciation for property, plant and ETE#922,391,0008 7T (ZF
equipment and for right-of-use assets for the — = : #920,609,000587T) ' B
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 which ] ﬁlEﬁE?j’§§HiiEE'J st A
amounts were also included in the respective 2RI M sE6(b) Ke6(c) PR B 2
total amounts disclosed separately in notes HIBAEEES ©
6(b) and 6(c) for each of these types of
expenses.

(ii) Loss allowance recognised on trade (ii) FEWNE S BE BB ISR E
receivables included specific expected credit BERKEZRIBREEBRE
loss on trade receivables approximately BE184932,637,0008 7T (Z
HK$32,637,000 (2023: nil) and reversal =& B REWBZHRIES
of loss allowance on trade receivables B HEEDA22, 000/% (=
approximately HK$22,000 (2023: loss “oE ERERRERDE

allowance recognised on trade receivables

approximately HK$1,782,000).

8B 491,782,0008 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M B RRITE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

7. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7. EFEEETRZFIER

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) Income tax expense in the consolidated (a)

statement of profit or loss represents:

REHEERZMEHRASNE

2024 2023
—EmE ZE=fF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FAET FAET
Current tax KHERIR IR
- Hong Kong Profits Tax (note (i) ~ —&BHEM HZEa0) - =
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") —FRE{EZEFT1EH
(note (i) (TEHFR1SR)
(Bt a2 i) 1,127 2,031
1,127 2,031
Over-provision of prior year BEFERBREE
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —&BFER - =
- PRCEIT —hE R EFRISIR (180) =
Deferred tax IEIEFRIE
Origination and reversal of HREEZEL KD
temporary differences (Btz£23(b)(i))
(note 23(b)(i)) - 1
Total “Bst 947 2,032
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)

(a) Income tax expense in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss represents:
(continued)

Notes:

(M)

(ii)

(iii)

No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided
as the Group has sufficient tax losses to set-
off the assessable profits for the year ended
31 March 2024 (2023: nil).

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of
the EIT Law, the EIT tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry
of Finance and State Administration of
Taxation, Cai Shui 2008 No. 1, only the profits
earned by foreign-investment enterprise
prior to 1 January 2008, when distributed to
foreign investors, can be grandfathered and
exempted from withholding tax. Dividend
distributed out of the profits generated
thereafter shall be subject to the EIT at 5% or
10% and withheld by PRC entities.

The Group is not subject to any taxation
under the jurisdiction of Bermuda, Samoa,
Jersey and the British Virgin Islands for the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Rm R ZFiFR (&)

REHEERZAEREASNE (@)

Bfat -

(i) HRAEEHE _T _NE=
AB=+—HLEEEERHRE
JE5 18 3 £ FE 2R AR R A 0 B 4R
FHREBANER CE=F:

=) o

(ii) RIEHEEEMRSRZE (TE
ERBRE) REEMRBR
EBRAA . REME AR
MEFEEREMSRREES
25%-°

1R 5% ot I 30 e B 5K AR 75 48 /3 B
B2 B 20085515%
HNETCEERANHRREED
KER_—_ZEZENE—HB—HA
Bt BY i A BT 28 S A A B 40
o W% H %P E S &R FT 2
Ik Z B S BIZEH5%510% 2 7
KEMEEMBR LHF
BEETEM ©

(iii) AEARSEE_S_MNER_
E_=—H#=B=+—HLEE
B AT RE B R
REBREREEZEAEEH
AR IE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M B RRITE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

7. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7. BRABRRZFAER (@
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and (b) RIEMAZ A st (518) JHFigE
accounting (loss)/profit at the applicable tax RAREHERIBENEER :
rates:
2024 2023
—EE B
HKs’000 HK$'000
FAET T
(Loss)/profit before taxation FRiQAET (B538) &5 F) (30,234) 3,369
Notional tax on (loss)/profit before  FRIR AT (E548) & F =~
taxation, calculated at the HERIE ) RBAMETE
domestic income tax rate of RE16.5%1H
16.5% (2023: 16.5%) (TEZ=%F 116.5%) (4,989) 556
Tax effect of non-deductible AR H 2 RBEE
expenses 8,997 1,180
Tax effect of non-taxable income TEBRRBAZRT T E (1,458) (692)
Effect of different tax rates arising ~ E MR IBT A EEFFESE
from other tax jurisdictions MEER 28 (2,346) 608
Tax losses not recognised REERZ MIBEE 1,277 1,313
Tax effect of utilisation of tax loss ~ {EFRERNIEEIE L
not recognised ML (325) (904)
Over-provision in prior year EEFERREE (180) =
Others HAth (29) (29)
Income tax expense FRiSIRIER 947 2,032
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 8.

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and

EEME

BIRBEBAEEAIFE3I8IMER AT (R
BEFENDER) REOSE2MFLURENE

Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information EM==0T
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:
2024
—EomE
Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
EE HEEMR BIREE
ik BRI RBTEA % Foh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Executive directors HTER
Mr. Ho Yu-shun (Chief Executive) IS BELE ((THAEH) - 2,000 - 18 2,018
Ms. Sun Le ot e - 1,800 150 18 1,968
Non-executive director FRTES
Ms. Sun Di mggt 50 - - - 50
Independent non-executive directors BUIERITES
Mr. Cheung Ngai Lam REBMEE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Tang Kin Nam MEmEsE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Kwong Wing Ho BXELE 150 - - - 150
590 3,800 150 36 4,576
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M B RRITE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

8. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (continued) 8. ZEH#E (&)
2023
“EI=F
Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors' benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
BE Ho 2k BIRETE
ik BMHE WIBTEA =3 st
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000
FET FET FET FET FET
Executive directors HiTER
Mr. Ho Yu-shun AEH5LE
(Chief Executive) (T #E%)
(appointed on 19 September 2022 R—FE-—F
and re-designated as Chief Executive 11517/ HEZERE
Officer on 1 October 2022) ¥ -F+F-H
BB ITEAE) - 1,167 - i 1,178
Ms. Sun Le REEgt - 1,800 150 18 1,968
Mr. Sin Lik Man FOX s
(resigned on 30 September 2022 and (RZF__fF
with effective from 1 October 2022) AA=T1HEHF
B-E-"F+H-H
£5%) - 1,466 173 9 1,648
Non-executive director FRTES
Ms. Sun Di ezt 50 - = = 50
Independent non-executive directors EIJFRITES
Mr. Cheung Ngai Lam RRMEE 240 = = - 240
Mr. Tang Kin Nam elfegepaes 150 = = = 150
Mr. Kwong Wing Ho BKERE
(appointed on 18 October 2022) (RZEZ_F
+5+/\ HEZE) 68 - - - 68
Mr. Wang Ye FERE
(retired on 16 September 2022) (RZEZ_F
AAFHERE) 23 - - - 23
531 4,433 323 38 5,325

No director of the Company has waived any
emoluments and no emoluments were paid or payable
by the Group to any of the directors as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group for the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023.

BE_ S NMEN_E_=ZF=B=+—
BHIEFEE > KRBz & E R E A
o MAEETEQEANESSZREN
FERME EFARSEMALRERFNMALR

S 2 2R
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10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 9.
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments,
two (2023: three) are directors of the Company whose
emoluments are disclosed in notes 8. The aggregate
emoluments in respect of the other three (2023: two)
individuals are as follows:

AL

rERLBESHFMNA LT Wi (TF
T=F =) REARAES EHMEER
MisFeBE -Hix =% (CTZ=F : W)
RN A L2 S4BERT ¢

2024 2023

—EME TEC=F

HKs’000 HKS'000

FAET FAET

Salaries and other emoluments e REMME 1,735 1,155
Discretionary bonuses BIETEAT 175 84
Retirement scheme contributions BRI 54 32
1,964 1,271

The emoluments of the three (2023: two) individuals
(who are not directors of the Company) with the
highest emoluments are within the following bands:

=R (CEI=ZF W) xeHA L
FERBES) <ME=BR THIHER

2024 2023
—E-FE 2=
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A A2
HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000 500,00178 7T 21,000,000 7T 3 2

No emoluments were paid by the Group to these
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office for both
years.

DIVIDENDS 10.

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during the year ended 31
March 2024, nor has any dividend been proposed since
the end of the reporting period (2023: nil).

=F 1 H\) o

RMEEE AEBTERZEA LM
ERIME FARSEMARERSIINAZR
SR 2 SRS RER A E o

HE_Z _WE=A=+—HLEEER"
3 4 ) 2 /N B 3 58 B IR B UK 25 o B 5 R B
B> B S HIREE TN B2 R E (T AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M B RRITE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

11.  (LOSS)/PROFIT PER SHARE 1. &k (&8 &EF)
a) Basic (loss)/profit per share a) SRREAR (B18) &
Basic (loss)/profit per share is calculated SRER (BB afBIREEAA
by dividing the (loss)/profit for the year ElHEA NELFER (B18) OaF
attributable to owners of the Company by the MFE R B (TS8R 158Gt
weighted average number of ordinary shares in Ho
issue during the year.
2024 2023
—EmE TEBC=F
(Loss)/profit (8518) i F
(Loss)/profit for the year KRBHEB A
attributable to owners of FEMEF A (B518) m Al
the Company (HKS000) (F#E7T) (30,782) 1,842
Number of shares K& E
Weighted average number of BEITEBER
ordinary shares in issue NHEF 58 21,084,072,140 21,084,072,140

Basic (loss)/profit per share
(HK cent per share)

b) Diluted (loss)/profit per share
Diluted (loss)/profit per share for the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 is the same as
the basic (loss)/profit per share as there is no
potential ordinary shares outstanding during
the years.

SREX (BB EF
(B 1)

b)

(0.146) 0.009

SR#E (B518) &
BHREATEBTEZEREERT
P RBE_E_NER_E_=
FEZRA=+—HItFEEESREE
(B518) /imf HEREXR (5B8)
S m )RR o
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12.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group has arranged its Hong Kong employees to
join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees make monthly contributions to the
scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income.
The contributions from each of the employer and
employees are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per
month and thereafter contributions are voluntary.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group also participates in a defined contribution
state-managed retirement benefit scheme. The
employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit
scheme operated by the government of PRC. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is
to make the specified contributions.

12.

B 2R AEF

FEESRBEEBEREONEEMER
EERBEBRFME LB ERA > 2
HHEBESSERFIMEAEEE (T4
BREstEl) - RBETFEI A —ERBILE
SEABIER E MR E - RIFRE
2 BEREEHERRERRMG
5%8 B BFRER - EIREEER
ZHMAREE EIRAE F1,500/8 7w Hi2P] B
FEMRR > 518 Z AR BI RS R ©

AEET2E-—BERERMZEXEER
REMNE - AEBZFENBRAEEE
9 7% F R B B 48 2 B SR IR AR IR AR A
SEIZHE - ZEMB AT AR IEME
ZIEEB D LERBRIRER FHEI MR F R
BRABR KRB E - AEERBRIKEF 5B
ZH—BEEFHIEE MR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M B RRITE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

N7 =
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ME- -BER=E
(a) Property, plant and equipment (a) ME--BRE KRR E
Plant, Furniture Construction
machinery and and Office Computer Motor Leasehold in
equipment fixtures equipment  equipment vehicles  improvements progress Total
HE Rk HEnz
R GRREE  HOERG EERfE "E kE HBIR At
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
A1 AT AT &1 A1 AT FET &1
Cost 2
At 1 April 2022 RZE-"EMA-A 72,156 469 2,052 936 987 334 5,094 82,028
Additions RE m = 168 = - - 2728 3,007
Transfer from CIP HEIREA 2183 - - - - 250 (4703) -
Written off it (4n) - - - - - - (47)
Effect of foreign curency  SNEEREE7¥2
exchange differences (5,295) (25) (145) 6) (76) (17) (379) (5,943)
At 31 March 2023 and
1 April 2023 68,684 444 2,075 930 M 2,839 2,738 78,621
Additions 1,953 - 30 - - - - 1,983
Transfer from CIP ERIBEA 2,613 - - - - - (2,613) -
Written off s (33) - - - - - - (33)
Effect of foreign curency  SNEEREEZ¥E
exchange differences (3,647) (15) (106) (U] (45) (149) (125) (4,091)
At31 March 2024 RZB_ME=A=+-H 69,570 49 1999 926 866 2,690 - 76,480
Accumulated depreciation Z3HFERHEE
and impairment
At 1 April 2022 RZE_"£mA-A 46,384 469 1,567 932 987 79 - 50418
Charge for the year EEMb 2417 - 129 2 - 34 - 2582
Elimination on written off 7 {3 %35 (208) - - - - - - (208)
Effect of foreign curency  SNEEREE7¥2
exchange differences (3402) (25) (108) 6) (76) 6) - (3623)
At 31 March 2023 and
1 April 2023 45191 444 1,588 928 m 107 - 49,169
Charge for the year EENk 1,905 - 317 - - - - 222
Effect of foreign curency  SNEEREE7¥2
exchange difference (2,393) (15) (82) () (45) (6) - (2,545)
At31 March 2024 RZB-mE=A=+-A 44,703 9 1823 924 866 101 - 48,846
Carrying amounts KEE
At31 March 2024 RZB-ME=A=+-H 24,867 - 176 2 - 2,589 - 27,634
At31 March 2023 RZBZ=%#=A=+-H 493 - 47 2 - 2732 2738 29452
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ME- -BRER=ME (&)
(continued)
(b)  Right-of-use assets (b) FERAEEE
The analysis of the net book value of right- ZIEAEERNE D 2 FERAEEE
of-use assets by class of underlying asset is as REFEZ2WAT :
follows:
2024 2023
—EBomE TEC=F
HKs’000 HKS'000
FAET FAET

Ownership interests in leasehold FEERHEE Tt RIEFW

land and buildings held for R R GRRAR
own use, carried at cost less TEEFAR) > FIBRFEH A :
depreciation with remaining lease
term of:
- Between 18 and 36 years —18FEF 365

(2023: between 19 and 37 years) (CEBEZ=F 1 19F

FE374F) 2,874 3,104

Other leasehold land and buildings Efth B AHEE Lt KIEF
leased for own use, carried at cost (3@ RN ASTH 3T EEHI BR)
less depreciation 9,919 13,211

12,793 16,315
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ME- -BEKRE (@)
(continued)
(b)  Right-of-use assets (continued) (b) FEREEE @

The analysis of expense items in relation to
leases recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

i8R B SRR 2 18
BZz2HWT :

2024 2023
—EMmE TEC=F
HKs’000 HKS'000
FAET FAET
Depreciation charge for HEABEERNE D2
right-of-use assets by class of FREEEZINESE !
underlying asset:
- Ownership interests in leasehold - F{EERMAE T
land and buildings held for BFNEE#EED
own use 67 70
- Other leasehold land and -HthBRHEE Tt
buildings leased for own use BF 7,044 5,644
7,111 5,714
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEN S
(note 6(a)) (Htz26(a)) 639 631
Expense relating to short-term lease ELZZHRFTH EARAMIRE X 582 593

During the year, additions of approximately
HK$4,427,000 (2023: nil) as a result of lease
modification.

The total cash outflow for leases in 2024 was
HK$nil (2023: approximately HK$9,564,000).
The lease payment for 2024 with amounted
approximately HK$8,488,000 was set off with
trade receivables (2023: nil).

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is set
out in note 22.

FRRBEE R ELI4,427,00078

T(CEZ=ZF 18-

A TS NERAENIRS R AR5
ABEIT (CE =4 499,564,000
BT  c _T_NEMRENARYAE
8,488,00078 7t HIE W E 5 T IBIE
H(CEZ=F | o

HESERE B 2 AT &M
220
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13.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

(b)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

(i)

(1)

Ownership interests in leasehold land
and buildings held for own use

The Group holds the interests in
leasehold land and buildings for
its ordinary course of business. The
Group is the registered owner of these
property interests, including the whole
or part of undivided share in the
underlying land. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire these
property interests from the government
authorities, and there are no ongoing
payments to be made under the terms
of the land lease, other than payments
based on rateable values set by the
relevant government authorities. These
payments vary from time to time and
are payable to the relevant government
authorities.

Other leasehold land and buildings
leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use
the land and building through tenancy
agreements. The lease typically runs for
an period of 5 years.

13.

ME - BB Rz E (&)

(b) ERAEEE @

(i) HIFEAHEEL M RIZEF

ZHEE#ET

FEERBEXEBBED
FERFEREAE LMK
BFzED AEERZE
MERDZEMBER A
B 45 48 B8 £ it AY 2 2B =X AR
PARDEMNE-AEEE
FASEE —RIEARR > UL
BNERBAZSTYEE
m MEREBEAEEBRFER
FE TE B9 FE SRR = B B I K
5> BARE Tt B ERYF
TR E N TR o ZE R

E,o

Gy  BRtEHFBEELTHRIET

FEECEEBEERZER
Bt RBFRERE-TH
ERHAR— R A5 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

14.

GOODWILL 14. BHE
2024 2023
—E”_mE TEC=F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FAET FAET
Cost %N
At beginning and at end of the year REDRER 5,368 5,368
Accumulated impairment loss REtiRERE
At beginning and at end of the year REX RER (5,368) (5,368)
Carrying amount REE - =
Others segment: Hithor4a :

For purposes of impairment testing, goodwill had
been allocated to a CGU which is principally engaged
in logistics businesses comprising warehousing,
transportation and cargo handling in Hong Kong
and PRC, and included under others segment. The
management considered Shing Kee International
Logistics Holdings Limited (“SKIL") together with its
subsidiary, Shing Kee Sea-land Logistics & Warehousing
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (literally translation of F%2C /g
vrme (R BRAE) (“Sealand”) (collectively the
“SKIL Group”) is the CGU for allocation of goodwill as
synergies are derived in such arrangement.

MBEAEME  BEDRORIREE
EBEUHFTEREBRTRAREYRE
HoOiEaE BHKkEHEEE Wt AH
MOLEIET - BEEER R BB R R
ERBRAE (TRCE YR KB
AEBEEEYRE (R BRAT (T
soigkE)) (i TRssCERYRER) B
REMEZREEEEM THHRAMEZH
B EE 173 A 3t
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15.

16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSET 15. HtEEEE
Customer
relationship
EFRRE%
HK$'000
FAET
Cost B% 4%
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, ATE T HFONB-H - Z =4
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 = B=F+—RHA - ZZ2-_=FE—HBK
2T OFE=FB=1+—H 4,202
Accumulated amortisation and Rt R E
impairment
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, RIZEZZFMBE—H -ZT=F
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 =A=+—H-ZZ2EZ=FHBF—HkK
—EoEFE=B=1+—H 4,202
Carrying amount REE
At 31 March 2024 S _E_NFE=A=+—H -
At 31 March 2023 R ZFET=F=A=+—H -
INVENTORIES 16. %8
2024 2023
—EImEF =
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FAET
Raw materials FEAF R 1,242 948
Finished goods E 24,737 44,507
25,979 45,455
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as XM AR FEEB 2N
an expense and included in profit or loss is as follows: W
2024 2023
—EINE -
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FAET
Carrying amount of inventories sold BEEFEZREE 852,272 1,869,190
Reversal of write-down on inventories EFE BB (2,413) =
849,859 1,869,190
The reversal of write-down on inventories arose due to FEMBBERDAHRFEARE REIEIEN
the slow-moving inventories were sold during the year. F&-o
All the inventories are expected to be sold within one FrEGREEHENRN—FREE-
year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M B RRITE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES 17. BWEZRIE
2024 2023
ZEIME —E-=
HKS$’000 HKS'000
FAET FAET
Trade receivables FEW B 5718 207,278 1,386,755
Less: Loss allowance recognised B BHERE RS (35,280) (3,103)
171,998 1,383,652
2024 2023
ZETWmE —ET=F
HKs’000 HKS'000
FAET FAET
Represented by: (e
Non-current portion (note (ii) JEmBNER D (M 5Ei)) 24,024 =
Current portion TRENER D 147,974 1,383,652
171,998 1,383,652
Notes: oz
(i) Ageing analysis (i) SRE DT

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing
analysis of trade receivables based on the invoice
date or shipment and delivery date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

MR ARBERRIZERAHNEE R
R B2 Z B E ZHIE (0ERES
BRI ZRRE D

2024 2023

—E-ME .
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FAET
0-60 days 0E60H 16,023 643,471
61-120 days 61£E120H 8,802 326,165
121-180 days 1212180H 90,146 310,072
181-360 days 181F360H 51,262 103,944
Over 360 days HBi8360H 5,765 =
171,998 1,383,652

Trade receivables are usually due within 360 days
(2023: 360 days) from invoice date or shipment and
delivery date. Further details on the Group’s credit
policy and credit risk arising from trade receivables
are set out in note 26(a).

(ii) One of the debtors of the Group applied for voluntary (ii)
debt restructuring during the Year, resulting in a 12-
year repayment plan.

EWRESHBEREENEZE[RAEER
AT HHAREF360H (ZF =4 : 360
B REH AEBMEEBRRKBEEK
BSRBEEENEERBZE—THE
KT EE26(a) ©

FEBEP—HEFARKEERFE
FEEBEAE > WHE R 2EMNERET

#o
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18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 18. FEfIFUIA ‘&R HMEYWERIE

RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
T mE B
HKs’000 HKS'000
FAET FAET
Amount due from a non-controlling interest & IE1Z BG 18 25 =N 18
(note (a)) (K1t (@) 8,426 8,015
Other receivables Hith e =Ia 874 762
Trade deposits paid (note (d)) BB ST (#aE ) 309,508 321,625
Other deposits and prepayments HitiZe RFANRIEB 5,774 1,902
Other tax prepayments (note (c)) HahFaLRIB B2 c) 176 185
Less: Loss allowance recognised o B EEE G
(notes (a) and (b)) (Ht5%(a) % b)) (9,349) (9,758)
315,409 322,731
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MERENDTA -
Current assets MENE E 315,409 322,731
Non-current assets ERBEE - =
315,409 322,731
Notes: Mzt -
(a) The amount is secured by the shares in certain private (a) FELUZEREAEMAILZIAAT

limited companies incorporated in Hong Kong, one of
which being SKIL, a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group. It was interest-bearing at 5.01% per annum

and was due on 30 September 2017.

As at 31 March 2024, the balance is past due and
impairment allowance recognised of approximately
HK$8,426,000 (2023: approximately HK$8,015,000) is

provided.

RATZRMOREIEF Hp—fEAK
EEFZENBRAEABCEE YR -8
RAAIEIRERK5.01%:t 8 RBR -2

—tFNB=+RHER-

AZE_NE=RBA=+—H &&%E
780 HA NI 2 e 5% (B 135 1 498,426,000 78 7T
(ZEZ =4 : #8,015,000587T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

18.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

Impairment of other receivables

Impairment losses recognised in respect of other
receivables are recorded using an allowance account
unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of the
amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss
recognised is written off against other receivables
directly (see note 2(h)).

Movements in the loss allowance recognised

18.

FARRIE s B2 R HE thE R IE

(4%)
=R
()  EfERREAZE

BREMEWNTIEZ BRERERED
ERBARLIR FRIFEEREAIKD
B RRIEZ BJ SE IR E R (R B 5% > FEUIE
BERT BERREBIEEEZEMEE
fthAEUERIE (RHIEE2(h)) ©

ERE A A B G > B8

2024 2023
—EWmE ZET=F
Note HKSs’000 HKS'000
Kzt FAET FAET
At beginning of the year KA 9,758 10,472
Reversal of impairment loss 748 3 [ R B E5 8
to profit or loss (i) (341) (541)
Exchange differences ERER (68) (173)
At end of the year REXR (i) 9,349 9,758
Note: Mzt -
(i) At 31 March 2024, loss allowance in respect (i) RZE_NME=A=+—H >

of other receivables of the Group including
amount due from a non-controlling
interest, other receivables and deposits and
prepayments amounting to approximately
HK$9,349,000 (2023: approximately
HK$$9,758,000) were recognised by the
Group. The major impaired receivables were
outstanding for over 1 year at the end of the
reporting period and were due from a non-
controlling interest with financial difficulties.

The other tax prepayments represent the prepaid
value-added tax in PRC which can be utilised to offset
the value-added tax payable arising from the future
sales of the subsidiaries operating in PRC.

At 31 March 2024, trade deposits of approximately
HK$309,508,000 (2023: approximately
HK$321,625,000) were paid by the Group to the
suppliers for secure the procurement volume and
purchase of merchandise and raw materials which
can be recognised as purchases after the year end
date upon the delivery of the merchandise and raw
materials to the Group.

At 31 March 2024, an impairment loss on trade
deposits approximately HK$351,000 (2023:
approximately HK$1,159,000) has been recognised.

AEBEORIBERAERHA M
FE U RN IE > B HE FE UK IE 2 RS i
T RRIE ~ H i FE UR FRIE DL R 3%
EREARBEZBEBENS
9,349,00087T (ZE=£F 1 4
9,758,000/ 70) c T EREZFE
WARIBEARREHRE AR —
FEL o ThE B # 2 3E
122 36 e 2 Y FE R RS o

HiFANRIBEEPREAMIEETR 2]
FATEHR SH7E TP B0 & 48 2 P /a8 A B S AR 2R
ETHEMEEZBIEER

ATE_ME=A=+—H'&&£H
B HER E 5 1% £49309,508,00078 7T
(CTB - =4 £9321,625,0005870) > UL
BRRESEREEEYREME > B
SEINRAEBRTEYRREMERE
FHEBBERAREIE

RIZE_WE=B=+—H BFE:1E
¥ & 2 RER1E49351,00087T (°F
=4 : #91,159,00058 7T) ©
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19.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 19. HRERAESFEMREMRER
OTHER CASH FLOWS INFORMATION 28N
(a) Cash and cash equivalents (a) HERIREEEY
2024 2023
—EME TEBC=F
HKs’000 HKS'000
FAET FAET
Cash at banks and on hand RITAFEIRE 6,503 7,532
Cash and cash equivalents in the e BiRRKR
consolidated statement of financial “ZaRE&ERERT
position and the consolidated HERIBEEEY
statement of cash flows 6,503 7,532

Note:

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates.

At 31 March 2024, cash and cash equivalents
situated in Mainland China amount to
approximately HK$19,000 (2023: approximately
HK$36,000). Remittance of funds out of
Mainland China is subject to relevant rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control.

fisz -

IRITHEESREBHRTERANRZFFHF]

S EI ST

RIE_WE=ZRA=+—H uUn
R A IRE R IRE S B S

19,0008 (ZE =

1 #936,000

B) cBEEEHPEAMAET
TRRASNE E B BIAR R KRR B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M B RRITE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #ZE_Z_J/QF=F=

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOWS INFORMATION
(continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

+—HIEEE

19. RERREFEVREMBER
EEH (&)

(b) REBEBRELEEZHIER

Lease

liabilities

HeEa®E

HKS'000

FAET

(note 22)

(By5#22)

At 1 April 2022 R-ZE - _FMBE—H 16,674

Changes from financing cash flows MERTREED (9,564)

Exchange differences EREE (1,252)
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) F B (fi5E6(@)) 631

At 31 March 2023 and at 1 April 2023 ATE_—FE-H=1+—HBK

A ZEZ=FMA—H 6,489

Non-cash transaction (note) FRERH FIs) (8,488)
Lease modification HEEN 5,163
Exchange differences EREE 375
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) FMERZ (fizt6(a)) 639
At 31 March 2024 R ZE_MNE=HA=+—H 4,178

Note:

The lease payment for 2024 with amounted
approximately HK$8,488,000 was set off with trade

receivables.

fisz -

T _NFEHENTHRBENS
8,488,000/ 7T > HHIEW E 5 =
TEIK 8 o
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20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

TRADE PAYABLES 20. E{TEZIA
2024 2023
—EIMNE ==
HKs’000 HKS'000
FAET FAET
Trade payables FE (4 B 5 /18 74,145 1,280,023
Note: Htat -
Ageing analysis BRI D AT

As the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
payables based on the invoice date or shipment and delivery
date is as follows:

UTFRRESHRRERARNEERZTHE

22BN E S RE DA

2024 2023
ZEZ@mE S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
0-60 days 0Z60H 6,648 625,434
61-120 days 61E120H 61,271 301,978
121-180 days 121E2180H 207 296,815
181-360 days 181E360H 871 50,810
Over 360 days B38360H 5,148 4,986
74,145 1,280,023

Trade payables are expected to be settled within one year.

FE(T B 5 FIETRER I —F 2 T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

21.

22,

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. EtERREMEMTRIE
2024 2023
—E-mE TET=4F
HKS$’000 HKS'000
F#T FHT
Accruals and other payables FEST & A R H e 718 52,025 31,230
Note: Hiat :

All the accruals and other payables are expected to be settled
within one year or are repayable on demand.

LEASE LIABILITIES 22.

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, the lease liabilities are
repayable as follows:

st ERREMBANRBELBABRN —FA
I RIBEREE

HEER

R-E_MEFR-F_=F=ZR=1—
BriEEaEEESANT

2024 2023

—TmE “ET=F

HKs’000 HKS'000

FET FET

Within 1 year —FRN 1,626 1,196
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRBREMFENRN 2,552 5,293
4,178 6,489

The incremental borrowing rate applied to lease
liabilities is 4.75% (2023: 4.75%))

HANREEAENEEFNEA475% (T
T =4 475%) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

23. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 23. ZEHMBRARZFAIER
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(a) Current taxation in the consolidated (@) EEMBIR AR ZAEIRIELS :

statement of financial position represents:

2024 2023
1222 ZEI=HF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FAET FAET
At beginning of the year REH) 3,296 2,964
Provision for the year KEEEE
- Hong Kong Profits Tax (note 7(a)) —&AFEHR
(H1£7(a)) - -
- PRCEIT (notes 7(a)) — Rl EFRISR
(Htzt7(a)) 1,127 2,031
,,,,,, 1127 S
Over-provision of prior year BEFEBRER
- Hong Kong Profits Tax (note 7(a)) —&BREM (Hfzt7()) - -
- PRCEIT (notes 7(a)) — Rl EFRISR
(Hizt7(a)) (180) =
,,,,,,, aso =
Income tax paid FREMNER
during the year
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —BANER - =
- PRCEIT — BB EFRIIR (505) (1,483)
,,,,,,, (505) NN
Effect of foreign currency exchange FEREE 2 FE
differences (177) (216)
At end of the year REXR 3,561 3,296
Representing: &
Tax recoverable Pl EITRIE - =
Tax payable FE(TIRIE 3,561 3,296
At end of the year RER 3,561 3,296
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 £ ¥R 2023/24
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M B RRITE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

23.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

(b)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

recognised
The components of deferred tax
assets and liabilities recognised in the

(i)

consolidated statement of financial

position and the movements during the

year are as follows:

23.

mAaMBRARZEARFR (@)

(b) CHRIVEERFEEERER

(i)

Depreciation

iR M BN R RS2
BRERBEEREEED
RN ERBNEEHMT

Depreciation

allowances in excess
in excess of related
of related depreciation
depreciation allowances Total
e rEEB
TR TR R T ES
HERA T ES R “ast
Deferred tax arising from: HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000
RIEMIERE : FET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2022 =
HE—H 66 (40) 26
Charged to profit or loss NEBER
(note 7(a)) (Ht5%7(a)) - 1 1
At 31 March 2023 and A
1 April 2023 =H=+—H
RZEBZ=%F
mA—H 66 (39) 27
Charged to profit or loss MNkrBE18E=E
(note 7(a)) (H13t7(a)) - - -
At 31 March 2024 RZZZmE
=B=+—H 66 (39) 27
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

23. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 23. RFEMBRARZAER (@)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities (b) ERFDEEREEERAR (B)
recognised (continued)
(i) Reconciliation to the consolidated (i) REMBRRREER .
statement of financial position:
2024 2023
—E”_MmE B
HKs’000 HKS'000
FAET FAET
Deferred tax assets Rir MBI RER 2
recognised in the RIERRIEE B
consolidated statement of
financial position (39) (39)
Deferred tax liabilities RiFE MBI RRER Z
recognised in the FERIEE R
consolidated statement of
financial position 66 66
27 27

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24  £F ¥R 2023/24

151



152

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

23.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

(c)

(d)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$134,224,000
(2023: approximately HK$124,159,000)
and approximately HK$115,000 (2023:
approximately HK$11,142,000) available for
offset against future profits that may be carried
forward indefinitely and with expiry date of
within 5 years, respectively. No deferred tax
assets have been recognised in respect of the
tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax
is imposed on dividends declared in respect
of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1
January 2008 onwards.

At 31 March 2024, temporary differences
relating to the undistributed profits of
subsidiaries amounted to approximately
HK$47,926,000 (2023: approximately
HK$80,486,000). Deferred tax liabilities
of approximately HK$2,396,000 (2023:
approximately HK$4,024,000) have not been
recognised in respect of the tax that would be
payable on the distribution of these retained
profits as the Company controls the dividend
policy of these subsidiaries and it has been
determined that it is probable that these profits
will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

23.

n/\

(c)

(d)

BMBRRARZAER (&)

REERIRIEIRIBEE
ATE_MWE=B=+—H &%
[E < B) A iR TEE5$8.49134,224,00078
T (CE =4 £49124,159,0007
70) ’#9115,00087C (ZE - =£F !
z711 142,00078 7T) B BB UK 35 R 2k
w0 M Bl 2 A PR HR A B R Y
EEW EIHF e MR BETEAI R K m
AR » (R R T AR TE RS 18
ERIBEE ©

KRR ZIBLEREER
RIBERB B ZEFRSRE > AR E W
BAEN _EENE-—F—AMNE
PREREN 2 im A Bk Z B B AR TR
A5

ATE_MWE=B=+—H &K
BAB XD Kz %IJ?FEE%Z%%%%E
#7547,926,0008 70 (C T =4 :
#80,486,00078 70) ° HIN AR A BIIE
HZERBARZREBE  BR
BZERBRANAARAER T R
RIEH 2Tk BT ER D IKZEE
A 2 IR B RIRIEIR B A A
#2,396,0008 T (ZEZ=F | &9
4,024,0007 7T) ©
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24,

(a)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 24. RAERGHE
The reconciliation between the opening and (@) REBGEERSAME DR FL]
closing balances of each component of the RERERZHRFN IR
Group'’s consolidated equity is set out in the R oA RNBEZERERAMRIB AR
consolidated statement of changes in equity. FYERFRZ SEFFUWT -
Details of the changes in the Company'’s
individual components of equity between the
beginning and the end of the year are set out
below:
Share Share Merger Capital Contributed Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve surplus losses Total
ke RAEE AfEE  ESHE  BABRR  RHEH i
HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS 000
FET FE7 & AT FEr FE7 A
At 1 April 2022 RZEZZENA-H 4217 41,970 (1,522) 7,851 31,960 (41,554) 42922
Loss for the year FEERR - - - - - (5918) (5918)
Total comprehensive expenses ~ AEE2EHTAE
for the year - - - - - (5918) (5,918)
At 31 March 2023 RIEZ=%=F=1+-H 4217 41,970 (1,522) 7,851 31,960 (47,472) 37,004
At 1 April 2023 RIEZ=%MA—H 4217 41970 (1,522) 7,851 31,960 (47,472) 37,004
Loss for the year FEERR - - - - - (9,074) (9,074)
Total comprehensive expenses ~ AEE2EH AR
for the year - - - - - (9,074) (9,074)
At 31 March 2024 RIE-ME=A=1+-H 4217 41,970 (1,522) 7,851 31,960 (56,546) 27,930
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M B RRITE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

24. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 24. RAERG#E (@
(continued)
(b)  Share capital (b) K&
2024 2023
—EImE =3
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
ROHUE &5 RAHEE &8
HKS$'000 HKS 000
FET FET
Authorised: BE
At the beginning and at the REMNRER
end of the year (ordinary (SIREE0.0002ETT
shares of HK$0.0002 each) ZEBER) 500,000,000,000 100,000 500,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREE
Ordinary shares of SREE0.0002E T
HK$0.0002 each LRk
At the beginning and at the REMRER
end of the year 21,084,072,140 4,217 21,084,072,140 4217

The owner of ordinary shares are entitled to
receive dividends as declared from time to
time and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares
rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

The application of the share premium
account is governed by the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Companies
Act”) and Bye-laws of the Company.

(i) Merger reserve

On 6 January 2003, the Company
became the holding company of the
companies then comprising the Group
pursuant to a group reorganisation
scheme (the “Group Reorganisation”)
at the time of listing of the Company’s
shares on the Stock Exchange. The
merger reserve of the Group represents
the difference between the nominal
value of the shares of a former
subsidiary of the Company acquired
pursuant to the Group Reorganisation
and the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange therefor.

(c)

EERER ABRIERARE IR
RE U HAERERTDKRE LRE
KREPER - -FIAESERNEA
BIRGREENEZARFMAL-

HETERBR
(i) BR17 m 1B

(i)
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ROEERZARZAR
E—NN\—FRE% (A
&) RERBZMARE

=N

R 5 A R B B 3 5 B 32 P
EHERETZERER
st8 (TEMEMH) A1 F
RIEE=F—HF/NHRK
RERENEERZER
BIZERAB -AEBZE
HEEAREEBEHRK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

24. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(iii) Capital reserve

(iv)

Capital reserve represents the fair value
adjustment on the amounts due to
the former ultimate holding company
and the former immediate holding
company at initial recognition, deemed
capital contribution from the former
immediate holding company on the
date of extension of repayment and
waiver of amount due to the former
ultimate holding company.

Statutory reserves

Pursuant to applicable PRC regulations,
certain PRC subsidiaries in the Group
are required to appropriate not less
than 10% of their profit after tax to the
statutory reserve until such reserve
reaches 50% of their registered capital.
Transfers to this reserve must be made
before distribution of dividends to
shareholders.

Pursuant to applicable PRC regulations,
PRC subsidiaries in the Group engaged
in business involving the prescribed
dangerous goods are required to
appropriate certain of their profit,
calculated based on regressive rate
ranging from 0.5% to 4% applied
on the revenue of that entity, to the
statutory reserve. This specific reserve
can be utilised when expenses or
capital expenditures on production
safety measures are incurred. The
amount of this reserve utilised would be
transferred from the reserve account to
retained profits.

24. REREHE @)

(0 HEEERRBZ (@

(iii)

(iv)

B

BEARRBERRD D BN
FE AT Al & R IE IR A B e Al
ERERABMEBEZAR
BZRBE - RNERERAH
WERAEERERATZ
B R B o FE A A B AR

RN BRI ©

EERE

RIFERAR P EER A&
EzETHREMNBRQBE
BEBRR B R A LDI10%
BRELAEHE BEELSE
EBERFEMER Z250%%
1F - B RAFRIBN AR A KRR
DRI BRI E A o

RIFBEANPEER A&
ERESIREEGKRDE
B ENB AR BERE
RZERWA RN %E
A% REXGTENE TR
MBBELEHB -Z2E
RENEEEZREEHE
ERTHEART HEET U
A -ZHEECHRESER
A ERELERE mA] o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

24.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(continued)

(c)

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(v) Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the
Company at the end of the reporting
period represented the credit arising
from the transfer of the share premium
account of the Company to the
contributed surplus account of the
Company as reduced by amounts
transferred from the contributed
surplus account of the Company to
set off the accumulated losses of the
Company.

(vi) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising
from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policy set out in note
2(t).

Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that
entities in the Group will be able to continue as
a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the
debt and equity balances. The Group’s overall
strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure regularly. As part of this review, the
directors consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure
through new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
are subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

24.

RRA K it (8)

(c)

(d)

HEEERAR (&)
)  BHER

REBEEHR ZABZEH
BEFIERFHA QB RN &
BRBEEARTEHR
BRIRFTEEZ ERETRR B
FEREEAATDERAE
BRARPT 8 B A LUR S A A
B REHBIEZ TR

i) EREHE

EREESEMEBRBRE
BINEZ M BREME
EZERE R o LR
E20PE B 5T BURERIE

AAEE
AEEERHEANENABBAE
5 B8 RO (R R T 15 - FRAR
AEENSBRAFECE AR
BRAEHERABIR - K EB
BRI BB M R R o

FABDEREMRTBEERE F
R —HD > BEEZBELRK
TR EER/EAERZ AR R
EFER AEEBEBETHR
KB E B0 AR S 1T R st AR Bl 3R
ERE LT HHEBEEARRE-

AT REEMAN B LD RESE
SNFREFHEINEYE AR EFR IR
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24,

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

(continued)

(d)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing
ratio, which is total borrowings divided by
equity plus total borrowings. Equity represents
equity attributable to owners of the Company.
The gearing ratio as at the end of the reporting
periods is as follows:

24.

RRA R (4)

d) EBFEEREG@E
rEBEREERBLE BIBE
BN EDNEEEERER #
ISR REHER AL o 1N
THRZEESBLEROT !

2024 2023

—EmE TEC=F

HK$’000 HKS'000

FAET FAET

Total borrowings wEE - -
Equity attributable to owners of the ZSAF A AFE(EHER

Company 435,631 493,206

Equity and total borrowings EmNEEE 435,631 493,206

Gearing ratio BEEAMFBLE Nil Nil

=z =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R B ER R MY 5E

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

25.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share
Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 27
August 2012 for the purpose of providing incentives
to eligible participants and the previous share option
scheme of the Company adopted on 6 January 2003
was terminated on the same date. Unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, the Share Option Scheme
will be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on the date of adoption. The purpose
of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group
to attract, retain and motivate talented participants
to strive for future development and expansion of
the Group. The Share Option Scheme shall provide
incentive to encourage participants to perform their
best in achieving the goals of the Group and allow
the participants to enjoy the results of the Company
attained through their efforts and contributions.
Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme
include any individual being an employee, officer,
agent, consultant or representatives of any member of
the Group (including any executive or non-executive
director of any member of the Group) who, as the
Board may determine in its absolute discretion, has
made valuable contribution to the business of the
Group based on his/her performance and/or years of
service, or is regarded to be a valuable human resource
of the Group based on his/her working experience,
knowledge in the industry and other relevant factors.
The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within thirty days from the date of grant, provided that
no such grant shall be open for acceptance after the
expiry of the period of ten years commencing on the
adoption date of the Share Option Scheme or after
the Share Option Scheme has been terminated. The
amount payable by each grantee of options to the
Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of
options is HK$1.00.

25.

REGHURMAERRZRZS

KABIRZE—ZFENBZ+TLtHZET]T
ZHRABREBERE L RABERESE
(TRERRHETE) - UAEER2EERE
HEUHRERKEER_SE=F—F/
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25.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The subscription price for the shares on the exercise
of options under the Share Option Scheme shall be
a price determined by the Board and notified to the
relevant participant at the time of grant of the options
(subject to any adjustments made pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme and the relevant provisions of
the Listing Rules) made to (subject to acceptance by)
the participant and shall be at least the highest of: (i)
the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the date on
which the option is granted, which date must be a
business day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date on which the option is granted; and (iii) the
nominal value of the share. An option may be exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme and such other terms and conditions upon
which an option was granted, at any time during the
option period after the option has been granted by the
Board but in any event, not longer than ten years from
the date of grant.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each
participant, together with all options granted and to
be granted to him/her under any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company within the 12-month
period immediately preceding the proposed date of
grant (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) shall not exceed 1% of the total number of
the shares in issue as at the proposed date of grant.
Any further grant of options to a participant in excess
of the 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders with such participant and his/
her associates abstaining from voting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

25.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The limit on the total number of the shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company (excluding lapsed and cancelled options)
must not exceed 30% of the total number of the shares
in issue from time to time. In addition, the total number
of the shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme,
together with all options to be granted under any other
share option scheme(s) of the Company (excluding
lapsed options), must not represent more than 10% of
the total number of the shares in issue as at the date
of approval of the Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”) or as at the date of approval of the
refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit as the case may be.
As at 31 March 2024 the total number of shares of the
Company available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme is 1,085,407,210 shares.

Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for
one ordinary share in the Company and is settled gross
in shares.

The Share Option Scheme was expired in August 2022
and no new share option scheme is adopted.

25.

SR B2 25
II‘E

FIEREBRESE R AREAEME
REFIERHEERITEZBRE (F
BREEBAMKEFHE ZBRE) EiTEM
AREE T2 RM B LR EBRARRE
BEITRRDHEE 2 30% © th 9N » AR IR BB AR A
FEBFERHZFAEBREERREAA
BEMEMEMBRESSR TIRH AR
R (FEEERM B M sEsE T
ZRDBE A BB ERKEEE
HR#AELEHA2IREREEH RIB
MME) BETRMDEE Z10% (T5H813%
#MREE)) -PN T WmE=F=+—H"
RABRIEERES B A (23217 2 R 42
£(71,085,407,2100% ©

SMBREGTRAE AR IRE—RE
NEZEBER TEBURNOESR-

BRESZIENR S _—_F£NAEm’ B
IR AN TR BB IR 5T & o

NEW PROVENANCE EVERLASTING HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥iEEIEIZEREREAT



26.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 260 TRTAZUFERAMEERER
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL RiE
INSTRUMENTS
The Group’s major financial instruments include the AEBZFETRTAGREFNEIE .
followings:
Categories of financial instruments ERTEZ 485
2024 2023
—TmE TEC=F
HKs’000 HKS'000
FAET FAET
Financial assets EMEE
Trade receivables FE N & 5 7718 171,998 1,383,652
Amount due from a non-controlling FEU IR IR s R IE K
interest and other receivables H fthfE =18 478 363
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 6,503 7,532
Financial assets at amortised cost FRBRIE At 2 SR E E 178,979 1,391,547
Financial liabilities EHMEE
Trade payables FET B S8 74,145 1,280,023
Accruals and other payables FEST & A R HAam e TIE 52,025 31,230
Lease liabilities HEaRE 4,178 6,489
Financial liabilities at amortised cost TR A AT R 2 SR B (& 130,348 1,317,742

Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in
the respective notes. The main risks arising from the
Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity
risk, interest rate risk and currency risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures

to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a

timely and effective manner.

(a) Credit risk

(a)

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty

will default on its contractual obligations

resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The

Group's credit risk is primarily attributable

to trade receivables. The Group’s exposure

to credit risk arising from cash and

cash equivalents is limited because the

counterparties are reputable banks, which the

Group considers to have low credit risk.

TR T EFBERBRMETIRE A& H
TMIEEEZFBZARBEERR A
HETRAR FXRBAERERE BB
BEZFRBZEREN TX -EEES
EEEKAEEZZAR  UEFRERRE

R BUE E HE I o

EERE
FERBEXZHFEREGNE
EMERNAERRZHFHERZE
BoREBMEERBRIERBRE
WESHIE AEBEEREHE
RREEEMZEERRER
REFHREERFZRT T&E
BRRFRTHEABRBZEER

A
Ao O
AR
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AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

26.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables

The Group has established a credit risk
management policy under which individual
credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables are usually due within 360
days from the invoice date or shipment and
delivery date. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers.

The Group has no significant concentration of
credit risk in industries or countries in which the
customers operate. Significant concentrations
of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers.
At the end of the reporting period, 38% (2023:
90%) and 99% (2023: 96%) of the total trade
receivables is due from the Group’s largest trade
debtor and the three largest trade debtors
respectively.

The Group measures loss allowances for
trade receivables at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL. For the credit-impaired trade
receivables, the loss allowances are assessed
individually. As at 31 March 2024, the gross
carrying amount of credit-impaired trade
receivables was approximately HK$77,710,000
(2023: nil), against which a loss allowance of
approximately HK$32,637,000 was recognised
(2023: nil). For the remaining trade receivables,
the loss allowances are calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the
Group's different customer bases.
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26.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management,
the Group uses debtors’ aging to assess
the impairment for its customers. For trade
receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the
loss allowance at lifetime ECL.

The following table provides information about
the Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for

trade receivables:

26.

THMIAZMHBREEER

QARE (&)

(@ EERAR @
BHEZHE (&

1F % 7 SR B 15 B LI 2 09 — 2

o AEBRCEREBARRTGLE
FPRE-TMEKRESZNRE xEH
RAEBYHREENFERPH
BERZ% BREEMRREERE
StEBIREE -

TREHEANRAERZEERRMU
KREWEZREZRREERRE

2024
“EME
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TRHAKSIE X IRE4EE EEiaERE
% HK$’000 HKs$’000
% FAET FAET
Current (not past due) BOER (RiEHR) 0.79 85,011 674
1-30 days past due BHI1ZE30H 2.84 7,195 204
31-60 days past due #1312 60H 2.86 6,964 199
61-90 days past due A HB61290H 2.86 7,529 215
More than 90 days past due A B3#E90H 5.91 22,871 1,351
129,570 2,643
Credit — impaired assessed =E—
individually BIET GRE 42,00 77,708 32,637
207,278 35,280
2023
==
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHAKSIE = REARE aEisbe g
% HK$'000 HKS'000
% FAET FET
Current (not past due) BRHER (R#A1HR) 0.16 1,269,190 2,038
1-30 days past due EHf1E30H 0.19 62,873 121
31-60 days past due BHA31E60H 0 - =
61-90 days past due B HA61290H 0 = =
More than 90 days past due EIRB3890H 1.73 54,692 944
1,386,755 3,103
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 26. TMITAZHMBEKREER

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ARE (B8)

INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) =B R (%)
Trade receivables (continued) FEWE Z 78 ()
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss FEHEEXTLERATEFENER
experience over the past years. These rates R B ZEEREHAR
are adjusted to reflect differences between DA BR S UR £ FE SF B A B U RV AR
economic conditions during the year over AR O~ A AR T £ A R [ FE U
which the historic data has been collected, FMIETERA A A FEHAKE R RNE
current conditions and the Group’s view of EZBENER

economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

Receivables that were past due but not ERHAEERE BB
impaired related to customers that had a HRAEEBERFFEATR LR
good track record with the Group. Based on FoREBaFKR EEERAE
past experience, management believed that B EER IR AR ER B
no impairment allowance was necessary in FERAGEEERTEERES M
respect of these balances as there had been ZEERDERA A 2EUE -

no significant change in credit quality and the
balances were still considered fully recoverable.

Movement in the loss allowance account in MEKE SRIEFERTEREERS

respect of lifetime ECL recognised for trade BERZEERBERNEAFEFEZE
receivables during the years are as follows: Eanr -

2024 2023

ZETMmE .

HK$’000 HKS000

FHET FAET

Balance at beginning of the year ~ FAEH] 2 4587 3,103 1,420

Impairment loss recognised RAFEZ BREREE

during the year fE518 32,615 1,782

Exchange differences PE 2 = %8 (438) (99)

Balance at end of the year KR Z &R 35,280 3,103
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 260 TRMTHZMBRAKREIER
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ARE B
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b)  Liquidity risk (b) REBEZRME

The cash management policy of the Group
includes short-term investment of cash
surpluses and raising of loans to cover expected
cash demands. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor its current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines
of funding from major institutions to meet
its liquidity requirements in the short and
long term. The Group relies on its liquid funds
and bank advances as significant sources of
liquidity.

The following tables set out the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of the
reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the
end of the reporting period) and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay.

FEEZREEERRESENRE
BHRETEMARE  UREBEER
AR RERE - AEEZBER
AERERRTRERRDESH
ERETEERE BN UER
Hif R B2 RS REREEEH
BES 7R B 2 & 56 B8R > LUFE(T
HERARRIARHESTER KE
ERBHRBE T RIRITRRER
HRBESZEBRR

TREAEENFTEZREE
RBEMRZBF FEQERER
IRBEEARMRFEER (BER
BaOFXe AT E) RREH
RZEBRARFEZHENMR) K
FERBARERERNZRTF B H
(Sl

2024
—EomE

Total

contractual
Within undiscounted Carrying
On demand 1year 1-2 years 2-5 years cash flows amount

BHRER
BREX R—FA —EmF “EIf RENBLH fREfE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FAT TET FET FAT FET

Non-derivative financial FEiTEERaE:

liabilities:
Trade payables ERESE - 74,145 - - 74,145 74,145
Accruals and other payables FEEt & R E MR TR - 52,025 - - 52,025 52,025
Lease liabilities HEaE - 1,932 2,577 - 4,509 4178

- 128,102 2,577 - 130,679 130,348
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

(b)

(c)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 260 TRTAZUFERAMBEERER
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL R 5{E ()
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) (b) HEBEZEARK (@)
2023
“BCCE
Total
contractual
Within undiscounted Carrying
On demand 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years cash flows amount
BRRMER
BER R—%R —EmE “ERE RERERE REE
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FAET FET FET FAET FET FET
Non-derivative financial EfiESHasE:
liabilities:
Trade payables ERNESTE - 1,280,023 - - 1,280,023 1,280,023
Accruals and other payables fEst & R R E AT TUE - 31,230 - - 31,230 31,230
Lease liabilities HE&R - 1618 5,510 - 7,128 6,489
= 1312871 5510 = 1,318,381 1317,742
Interest rate risk (c) F 2= &
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value FERRIE—EHEMTAEZANE

or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The Group is exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate
bank balances (see note 19(a) for details) and
fair value interest rate risk mainly in relation to
fixed-rate amount due from a non-controlling
interest (see note (a) of note 18 for details).

Interest rate risks are managed by the Group by
maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed
and variable rate financial instruments.

FARRIFE IR ER T IS EEBNM
ijﬁl)i@JZﬂlim o AREE BT IR

1THE R GRIB R sE19()) AR IRE
/)\L%%'JKHB“ s M EEEURIEIE
REmzERNIE GFERMEE18
FRHfEE@)) ©

FEREBEMERBRZHERER
ABEGZERKRFEREMIA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2024, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 5% (2023: 5%) in interest
rates for variable-rate financial instruments,
with all other variables held constant, would
have decreased/increased the Group's loss
after tax and the increased/decreased Group's
retained profits by approximately HK$325,000
(2023: increased the Group’s profit after tax
and the increased the Group's retained profits
by approximately HK$376,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest
rates on its variable-rate bank balances. Other
components of the Group’s consolidated equity
would not change in response to the general
increase/decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates at the end of the reporting period. The
analysis is prepared assuming the financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the
whole year. A 5% (2023: 5%) increase/decrease
in interest rates is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change
in interest rates. The analysis is performed on
the same basis for 2023.

26.
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26.

NEW PROVENANCE EVERLASTING HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥iEEIEIZEREREAT

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d)

Currency risk

(i)

Exposure to currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk
primarily through sales and purchases
which give rise to receivables, payables
and cash and cash equivalents that are
denominated in a foreign currency, that
is, a currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which
the transactions relate. In addition, the
Company has intra-group balances with
several subsidiaries denominated in
foreign currencies which also expose
the Group to foreign currency risk.
The currencies giving rise to this risk
are primarily USD and RMB. The Group
manages this risk as follows:

Recognised assets and liabilities

In respect of other assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies,
the Group closely monitors the net
exposure and will enter into forward
foreign exchange contracts to hedge
against the Group’s currency exposure it
considered necessary.

The following details the Group’s
exposure at the end of the reporting
period to currency risk arising
from recognised assets or liabilities
denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the entity
to which they relate. For presentation
purposes, the amounts of the exposure
are shown in HKS, translated using the
spot rates at the end of the reporting
period. Exposure resulting from the
translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations into the Group's
presentation currency are excluded.
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26.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 260 TRMTAZMBEMEERER
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL RRE (4B)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(d)  Currency risk (continued) (d) EERER (@)
(i) Exposure to currency risk (continued) (i) RS2 BIEERE (&)
Exposure to foreign currencies
(expressed in HK$)
SRR (MUETTEIT)
2024 2023
—BME “BICH
Uss RMB Uss RMB
7 ARHE E7T AE#
HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS000 HKS 000
FHT FHT FHT FHT
Trade receivables e E B 63,806 108,192 1,275,784 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRALEEN 5,290 138 6,708 166
Trade payables ENEZRE (60,325) (13,519)  (1,271,013) =
Net exposure arising from recognised BFERE E K A EFESE
assets and liabilities 2R 35 8,771 94,811 11,479 166
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 260 TRTHZHERGEERR

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL NRE B
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d)  Currency risk (continued) (d) &R
(ii) Sensitivity analysis (ii)

The following tables indicate the
instantaneous change in the Group’s
loss after tax (and retained profits)
and other comprehensive income that
would arise if foreign exchange rates
to which the Group has significant
exposure at the end of the reporting
period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables
remained constant. In this respect, it is
assumed that the pegged rate between
the HK$ and the USD would not be
materially affected by any changes

B (48)
R EZE DT

TRATHAERNRS
HAREAZRERABRZER
REBAEMES RKFA

EEGEREER (KRB
F)) B B2 H W an 2 BB
BEoplltms > EPER
BTRAZTZHEBEEERS
ERETRAEMEKES

FE-EBELAH(FH)
5% EEEFFTHEIER
EEBEZEERE AL

in movement in value of the USD SEHRZFAE (26 2
against other currencies. The increase/ BRHELEZo
(decrease) in foreign exchange rates
of 5% represents the sensitivity rate
of management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible strengthening/
(weakening) of the foreign currency
against the functional currencies of the
group entities.
2024 2023
k112 TR
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (Decrease)/  Increase/  (decrease) Increase/ Increase/
in foreign increase  (decrease)  inforeign  (decrease)  (decrease)
exchange inloss inretained  exchange in profit in retained
rates after tax profits rates after tax profits
BiE  RERN BiRe  REBEA
BELA w8 ED) gm EEEA EFAEN 181

/ (FH#) JEm/(ED)
HK$'000  HKS'000

/(T8 /@Y /(D)
HKS000  HK$'000

FET FET FET FET

RMB AR 5% (4,741) 4,741 5% 8 8
(5%) 4,74 (4,741) (5%) ®) )

us$ e 5% (439) 439 5% 574 574
(5%) 439 (439) (5%) (574) (574)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d)

Currency risk (continued)

(ii)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

Results of the analysis as presented
in the above table represent an
aggregation of the instantaneous
effects on each of the group entities’
profit or loss after tax and equity
measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into HKS$ at the
exchange rate ruling at the end of
the reporting period for presentation
purposes.

The sensitivity analysis has been
determined assuming that the change
in foreign exchange rates had been
applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period.
The analysis is performed on the same
basis for 2023.

In management’s opinion, the
sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk
because the exposure at the end of
the reporting period does not reflect
the exposure during the year, at the
USD denominated liabilities are with
different maturity dates and the
changes in foreign exchange rates may
not be steady throughout the year.

26.

THMIAZMHBREEER

QARE (&)

(d)

—nzm

(ii)

% ()
éf/sff/%ﬁi/f (&)

LRI EY DA 4

AEREEBEBEUZBAY
REERFEZRREET
65 18 R 1 o Y B By 52 &
MBE DR EHRBZ AT
ERMERABTEY]

BREDMHRREXRN
BHERARENTESR
EERBREMRATAS
FEEEBNERRNE
BMTAMEE BREDINE
B _-FHERZEE
1T

BERERR > AR UETS
BZERAETRNEH
HR2ENIHEEXES
RUIBTE  ERRBEHR
Y & B2 I R & BR A 9 B9 R
o BEURE DT EAAR
&5 A9 51 BE & R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

27.

28.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into the following material
related party transactions:

Key management personnel compensation

All members of key management personnel are the
directors of the Company, and the remuneration for
them during directorship is disclosed in note 8 and
total remuneration for them (including amounts paid to
them as employee of the Group prior to appointment
as directors) in the year as follows:

27.

EAAEALRS

AEBMEFTULTIHERFAEALRS !

FEEEASFM
FIETEEEABHREAABZESE K
EREREFHE NS ENK T E
REERFNZMTEE (BFEZES
EEVHERAERREEINTRENS
88) I -

2024 2023
—EMmE B
HKs’000 HKS'000
FAET FAET

Salaries and other short-term employee #f < & E 5 HA(E B 27!
benefits 4,540 5,287
Post-employment benefits BER B ET 36 38
4,576 5,325

Total remuneration is included in “employee benefits

MEREEST A MEERAMMA<) (R

expenses” (see note 6(b)). 6(b)) A
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 28. BAKIE
Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the REESHRT I ERHAEISEBBEZERKN
end of the reporting period but not recognised as BARMBZWT
liabilities is as follows:
2024 2023
—EZME TR
HKS$’000 HKS'000
FET FAET
Contracted for but not provided for [EEHEN AR S E]
in the consolidated financial AR B
statements
- acquisition of property, Gt N Y
plant and equipment 10,420 14,849
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

SUBSIDIARIES 29. MIEBAR

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 RIE-_WE=A=+—HZFERBA

March 2024: T

Place of
establishment or Particulars of
incorporation/ Class of issued and Attributable Principal
Name of subsidiary business shares held  paid up capital equity interest activities
R MAL, BETR
WEAE%E e BREN  BRREZHE FEfb R A i TEREH
2024 2023
ZEZME ZZT=F

Indirectly held

MERE

China Mining Industrial Import &  Hong Kong Ordinary 1 share (2023: 1 share) 100% 100%  Sourcing and sale of
Export Company Limited metal minerals and

related industrial
materials

HEBFELOEZERAT  &E i 1RBH REREELRER

CE-=f: WRIBETLE
1R BH) B
Global Metal Industrial Company ~ Hong Kong Ordinary 1 share (2023: 1 share) 100% 100%  Sourcing and sale of
Limited metal minerals and
related industrial
materials
2REBEEERAT e ] 1R RERHEETER
(CE-=f: MREHIX
1A 17) Rt

New Provenance Everlasting Hong Kong Ordinary 1 share (2023: 1 share) 100% 100%  Provision of
Management Company Limited management

services

MRBIEERERAF Y B® 1Az 1A RUEERE

(ZB-=fF:
1R 5)

BEEERRERGAFAEE PRC Registered ~ RMB77,365,215 100% 100%  Production and
[R’AE] (literally translated as (2023: RMB77,365,215) sale of industrial
“Ningxia Huaxia Integrated products
Waste Recycling Company
Limited") (note) (%)

el At AR 773652157 TERHBETER
C2z=F: Em
AR #77,365,21570)
Note:  Registered under the laws of PRC as wholly-foreign- Wiat . REFEEFEMAIEmEERE-

owned enterprise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M B RRITE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

30. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 30.

FINANCIAL POSITION

AR EEZABRRE

2024 2023
—E@mE B
Note HKs’000 HKS'000
HiaF FAET FAET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBABZKE - -
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and AT RIB ~ o R EAth
other receivables FE R I8 103,247 103,100
Cash and cash equivalents BeRIREEEY 1,146 532
104,393 103,632
Current liabilities REBIAE
Accruals and other payables fESTE B R E At e FIE 76,463 66,628
Net assets BEEFE 27,930 37,004
Equity R
Equity attributable to owners KABHEB NEEER
of the Company
Share capital (& 24(b) 4,217 4,217
Reserves B 23,713 32,787
Total equity R 27,930 37,004
31. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 31. EtHEIRTEHAEE MY

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTIES

(a) Significant accounting judgements (a)

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowance for financial assets are
based on assumptions about risk of default and
expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting the
inputs to the impairment calculation, based
on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period. Details
of the key assumptions and inputs used are
disclosed in the tables in note 26(a).

WA B B
SBRAEHE

TREEGRBERENBEYN

R R AR R 2 B R

B

FEEETFHZEFRRIEERE
SRS AER > RRAEEUE
EENHEADSREUARNERE
HASR BY BT BE 1 5T 2E 1T HI B - A8
R KPR A EFIERERWE

26(a) 2 & A& ©
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31.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainties

The following are the key assumptions
concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

(i) Estimated impairment of non-financial
assets

Determining whether there is an
impairment requires an estimation
of recoverable amounts of the non-
financial assets or the respective CGU in
which the non-financial assets belong,
which is the higher of value in use and
fair value less costs of disposal. If there
is any indication that an asset may be
impaired, recoverable amount shall be
estimated for individual asset. If it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of the individual asset, the
Group shall determine the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the asset
belongs. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise
from the assets or CGUs and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate
the present value. The discount rate
represents a rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset
for which the future cash flow estimates
have not been adjusted. Where the
actual future cash flows or the revision
of estimated future cash flows are less
than original estimated future cash flow,
a material impairment loss may arise.

(b)

BB R TR R R A ()

St A RERRZ T ERR

UTFAmIRBBZzZEEZRR UK
REBSHARERIEERN T —E
PHREEAREEKREBREEF
RERFBEZERERZ THEER

RZHMEERR
(i) FEMEEZ G5 RE

E =& F R E R A
sTERFEMEENIFS
MEEMBEREELES
fiiz ] iR El& %8 > BIfE AR E
BEEAAEBBRLEREZ
BReE -HAERRBTRER
—IEE E D AERE > BIZERL
&8 5l & E b 5t H ol W [Bl &
oM AREMFTENEEZ
PIURElE &8 B AR EEERE
TEEMBREELEN
2 o [el& %8 o E AAEES
BEERKEEGSTERE
TEHRAEENREESL
BAZARKBERERE
Bz ARGt EIRE B
WEBRBRIBEEDIZHE
2 05 [ 8 /e ok A BB R 2R 3R

EREBMGAZEERTER

BRI h - BB ARIREE
MEBHE M RKRRE
o 82 DR R A 5B AR 2R
HWERE AREELEK
PERIEY SEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M B RRITE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

31.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainties
(continued)

(i)

(iii)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant
balances and credit-impaired are
assessed for ECL individually. In
addition, the Group uses practical
expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables which are not assessed
individually using a provision matrix.
The provision rates are based on days
past due as groupings of various
debtors taking into consideration the
Group’s historical default rates and
forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available
without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to
changes in estimates. The information
about the ECL and the Group’s trade
receivables are disclosed in note 26(a).

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories
is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and
the estimated cost necessary to make
the sale. These estimates are based on
the current market conditions and the
historical experience of selling products
of similar nature. It could change
significantly as a result of changes in
customer preferences and competitor
actions in response to severe industry
cycles. Management reassesses these
estimates at the end of each reporting
period.

31.

SRt ET R TR E 1 ()

(b)

St A RERRZ ETERIR (B)

(i)

(iii)
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BEWE G H B2 FBRIEE
BTIR

FEBRBEBFGEREKX
BEE#LEEEREZEK
BoMEZARESRE
Sh AERRBAERER
FAGE I EER B AR
EEEETENENE SR
B AREEBE BHEX
BERSEHAERZ 8
MR TEEEAERZ
BEENRRERBEN
KA ERZ &E
REZFMHRETEERNEZRF
HeoREHREHH ~&H
BEMTEELHEREN
R E BRI EEERNZE
G

TR EEEERBE M
Z2EHEBEHRHE -BRATE
HEEBEBRAEEEW
B 5 RIE 2 BRI E R K
5£26(a)

FEZ TREFE

FENTEFEFEANE
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31.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTIES

(continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainties
(continued)

(iv)

(v)

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives of
the assets, after taking into account
the estimated residual values. The
management reviews the estimated
useful lives and the residual values
of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment regularly in order to
determine the amount of depreciation
charge for the year. The useful lives
and the residual values are based on
the Group’s historical experience with
similar assets and taking into account
anticipated technological changes. The
depreciation charge for future periods is
adjusted if there are significant changes
from previous estimates.

Determining the lease term

As explained in policy note 2(g), the
lease liability is initially recognised
at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term.
In determining the lease term at the
commencement date for leases that
include renewal options exercisable
by the Group, the Group evaluates
the likelihood of exercising the
renewal options taking into account
all relevant facts and circumstances
that create an economic incentive
for the Group to exercise the option,
including favourable terms, leasehold
improvements undertaken and the
importance of that underlying asset to
the Group'’s operation. The lease term is
reassessed when there is a significant
event or significant change in
circumstance that is within the Group's
control. Any increase or decrease in the
lease term would affect the amount of
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets
recognised in future years.

31.

SR ET R TREA R FE E 1 ()

(b) fEHFHEERRZEEZRE (B

(iv)  #TE

ME BB R RERE B
SARIFEER  HEENM
stelfE R E R UEGER
E-EEEEHERETEE
ZWE BB R F Y fh 5t
B8 A A A R BB B L
REFENEZRR AR
ERHFEHKRRGERDE
REEBHEBLUEENB
FEEREE WK E FFE
BT - B ER M ET
IRBACE > R RHARE Y

FESZHEWAHE-

v) EEFER

AN B ER B R 2(g) PR R R
HERRVNSZBARNE
MEEREZIRERD 1
BORBAREEEE (B
ErHAEERTENESR
EER) NESR AEE
KEBFETREBEHRERE
REFT1S 2 &% 5 E R AE R
EERER (BEEERK
M PTETHNAERERE
HEEHAEEZEENSE
2M) & IEITEERE
EHZ A HE I o M AR EE
EHEERNHRERNEMN
WEANEE AERREN
SPAEFRHT - HERBV(E AT IE B
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EEEAREAREENS

(e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R R MY 5

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_ZE_WE=ZRB=+—HIEEE

31.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainties
(continued)

(Vi)

Income tax

The subsidiaries of the Company are
subject to income taxes, including
capital gain tax, if any, in Hong Kong
and PRC. Significant judgement is
required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many
transactions for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will
impact the current tax and deferred
tax provisions in the financial period in
which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating
to certain temporary differences are
recognised as management considers
it is likely that future taxable profits
will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
Where the expectation is different from
the original estimates, such differences
will impact the recognition of deferred
tax assets and income tax charges in
the period in which such estimates are
changed.

31.

SRt ET R TR E 1 ()

(b) fEAFHEEERZEIEZRE (B

wi) g

i /NEST R RN =
EAKRTEFRER S8FE
FIZER WIAH)  BIREFR
"REBEFEFAFLEEKRH
- ABEXEFBRETEFE
HEHERRRBRAEFHE
FEERNENRZ - HZE
EFENERRRBERAR
MARMNEZEARE A AR
ERRBEEFLRZREN
R 75 AR 81 BY BN HA 7% 18 Ko IR

JERRIBR S ©

HEEBSE A ETEEA AL
B R R FE R A 7 M
HZEERER WERA
ETERERAMZIEL
PRSI E EE o (i TR HA 2 R 5%
astAR MIARERERF

WA 2 IEETRIAE &

RPA1SIRSZH
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33.

34.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E MBS R R M sE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #E_Z_NME=ZHB=+—HIEEE

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2024

Up to the date of approval for issue of these
consolidated financial statements, the HKICPA has
issued a number of amendments which are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 March 2024 and which
have not been adopted in these consolidated financial
statements, as follows:

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
and Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants’

Supplier Finance
Arrangements’

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2025
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a

date to be determined

The directors anticipate that the application of the
above new and amendments to HKFRSs will have
no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Based on the information currently available, the
Directors confirm that there has been no material
adverse change in the financial or trading position of
the Group since the end of the reporting period and up
to the date of this annual report.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified
to conform to current year’'s presentation. The
classification would not have material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

32.

33.

34.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

hFEMBRE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E_ME —T-=F C"E__F "T--F "BFTE
HK$’000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000
FET FET FET FET FET
(restated)
(ER)
RESULTS 4
Revenue from continuing operations HEREEB R 864,305 1,888,298 262,229 601,950 481,124
(Loss)/profit before taxation from BB E B IRR A
continuing operations (548) /&F (30,234) 3,369 (6,836) (11,912) (2,429)
Income tax from continuing operations FHEREEBMER (947) (2,032) 1,399 (3,078) (3:418)
(Loss)/profit for the year from SECEEBER
continuing operations (B18) /&7 (31,181) 1,337 (5437) (14,990) (5,847)
Non-controlling interests JEE R 399 505 (15) 92 452
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of AREER ANRLEE
the Company for the year (&18) /&7
- from continuing operations —REFBREER (30,782) 1,842 (5,452) (14,898) (5,395)
- from discontinued operation —REBR TS EF - - - (23,009) (11,503)
(30,782) 1,842 (5,452) (37,907) (16,898)
At 31 March
W=ZBA=+—-H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“mE —Z-=F "S- -F CB--F C"ZI°TF
HK$'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000
FET FAET FET FET FAT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEHERE
Total assets BEME 560,355 1,805,176 625,019 977,766 806,380
Total liabilities BELE (133,975)  (1,321,104) (102,995) (472,430) (321,128)
Non-controlling interests R 9,251 9,134 9,053 8,835 8,319
435,631 493,206 531,077 514,171 494,071
Equity attributable to owners of EABEE NELER
the Company 435,631 493,206 531,077 514,171 494,071
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